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2021

35,624,013,965

23,981,213,917

35,624,013,965

2022

2,690,591,206
(3,806,905,171)

2021

1,853,876,534
5,971,105,103

(1,116,313,965)

7,824,981,637

2022 2021
13,148,553 5,290,650
114,447 42,350
13,263,000 5,333,000

73/212



10

11

EDINETOOOO

00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022
23,981,213,917 23,981,213,917
23,981,213,917 23,981,213,917
2021
35,624,013,965 35,624,013,965
35,624,013,965 35,624,013,965
2022 31 2021 31
2022 2021 31

2022 2021
2,342,660
3,668,160,109
17,670,142 2,293,607
17,670,142 3,670,453,716
2022 2021

3,054,500,742

741212




EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022 2021
11,454,787 54,691,870
HSBC
12
2022 2021
100 100 10,000 10,000
100 100 10,000 10,000
100 49,900,000
100 100
13
2022 2021
0.1 49,900,000 4,990,000 4,990,000
0.1 103,087
2021 115,285 10,309 11,529

2022 2021

751212



14

15

16

17

103,

2022

27,083,247,670
087 2021

31

2022
K1J

31

115,285

20

2021

EDINETOOOO

00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022
21 31,216,805,348

2022 31
27,018,748,691 2021

100
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30

90

146,107,500 111,034,000
224,379,300 126,544,000
3,486,000 3,252,000
159,022,840 192,904,579
137,039,998 2,055,103,997
4,047,166,399 6,024,647,098
14,527,500 35,139,800
6,697,741,500 5,977,986,130
1,885,961,381 2,513,230,512
57,364,800 40,786,200
17,574,000 22,872,300
298,078,000 334,400,000
382,989,603

3,395,296,397

398,690,400 418,840,000
418,065,000 448,901,000
176,354,402 399,132,800
1,060,847,900

77,414,400 93,063,600
2,371,779,501 2,426,054,099
242,207,600

1,086,806,600 1,073,943,650
4,050,774,902 6,355,771,899
1,066,535,494 1,053,630,801
646,344,000 835,434,000
23,981,213,917 35,624,013,965
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TOWER K1 J-FUND

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 March 2022

MNotes 2022 2021

IPY IPY

ASSETS
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7.8 27,083,247,670 31.216,805,348
Amounts due from TE1 J Limited 14 223,313,700 1.053,330,310
Cash and cash equivalents 9 Q42,080 TH2.134
TOTAL ASSETS 27,307,503 ,430 32270917792
LIABILITIES
Redemption payable 12 200079276 1,023, 806,490
Performance fees payable 5 - 115,435,055
Accounts pavable and accrued liabilities 27,198,892 32,601,347
TOTAL LIABILITIES 227278, 168 1171842 892
EQUITY
Unit capital 11 27080225282 31,099,074,900
TOTAL EQUITY 27080225282 31,009,074, 900
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 27,307,503,450  32.270,917,792
NUMBER OF REDEEMABLE UNITS IN ISSUE 1 118,564 130,768
MNET ASSET VALUE PER REDEEMARLE UNIT 11 228,402 237819

Signed for and on behalfof
HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited
Trusiee

Signed tor wnddn behalt ol
Tower Asset Management Limited
Manager

The accompanying notes are an infegral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR. LOSS AND OTHER. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 March 2022

EXPENSES

Andit fee

Investment management fee
Legal and professional fees
Performance fees
Administration fee

Other expenses

LOS5 BEFORE INVESTMENT AND EXCHANGE
DIFFERENCES

INVESTMENT AND EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES

Net change in unrealised (losses)/gains on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

et realised gams on financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss
et exchange differences

(LOSS)PR.OFIT FOR. THE YEAF. AND TOTAL
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR. THE YEAR.

L L

2022 2021
PY IPY

3,044,372 2,832,803
291,769,904 77,860,458
1,554,546 1,655.761

- 115,435,055

1,355.200 1,270,445
2,406,935 1,860,047
300,130,957 400,914,569
(300,130,957)  (400,914,569)
(6.965,001,200)  6,508.242.150
6,548,003.867  1,939318.760
(350,204) (23,397
(416447537) 8447537513
(716.578.494)  8,046,622.944

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 March 2022

Balance at 31 March 2020
Fedemptions duning the year

Profit for the year and total
comprehensive income for the year

Balance at 31 March 2021
Subscriptions during the year
Fedemptions duning the year

Profit for the year and total
comprehensive income for the year

Balance at 31 March 2022
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MNumber of

umits Unit Total
outstanding capital equity
IPY IPY

141675 25262007918 25262007918
(10907)  (2209,533,962) (2,209,353 962)

- 8046622044 8046622944

130,768 31,000074900  31,000,074.900
17,300 3864716200  3.864.716.200
(20.504)  (7.166,987,324)  (7.166.987324)
- (716,578,494) (716,578 494)

118,564 27080225282 27080225282

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fmancial statements
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 March 2022

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss)Profit for the vear and total comprehensive mcome
for the year
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
et change in unrealised losses/(gains) on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
Net realised gains on financial assets at fair valoe through
profit or loss
Decrease in amounts due from TE1 J Limited
(Decrease)/merease in performance fee payable
(Decrease)/merease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Net cash inflows from operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of redeemable units
Fedemptions of redesmable units
Wet cash outflows from financing activities

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASHEQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank

Motes

12
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2022 2021
IPY IPY
(716,578.494)  8,046.622.944
(3,844,242 936) :
7,561,703.281  2,495,104.560
6,965,001.200  (6,508.242.150)
(6,548.003.867)  (1,939,312.760)
830,016,610 269,815,962
(115.435,055) 115,435,055
(5,402,455) 2,288,103
4126158284  2.487.705,714
3,864.716.200 _
(7.990.714,538)  (2,487,397.872)
(4,125.998,338)  (2,487,397.872)
159,946 307,842
782.134 474292
942,080 782,134
942,080 782,134

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

8

84/212



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

L THE FUND

Tower K1 J-Fund (the “Fund”) is registered under the Cayman Islands Mutual Funds Act and is
established under the laws of the Cayman Islands and constituted by a Tmst Deed dated 30 March
1999 as amended. made between Bank of Bermuda (Cayman) Limited as trustee and Tower Asset
Management Limited as manager (the “Manager™). Effective from 29 December 2017, Bank of
Bermuda (Cayman) Limited (the “Retinng Trustee™) was retired and HSBC Trustee (Cayman)
Limited was appointed as the trustee (the “Tmstee™) of the Fund on the same date.

The Fund commenced operations on 30 March 1999. It operates as a feeder fimd to TE1 J Linuted
(the “Master Fund™), an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 January 2001
and a regulated mutual fimd under section 4(3) of the Mutual Funds Act (2013 Revision) of Cayman
Islands, whose investment objectives numror those of the Fund. The Manager of the Master Fund 13
also Tower Asset Management Limited The Fund iz currently the only investor in the Master Fund.
Fedeemable participating shares in the Master Fund were issued to the Trustes to be held in trust for
the Fund.

The Fund's investment objectives are to preserve capital and to maximize capital gains, regardless of
the direction of global stock markets or mterest rates. The Manager will seek to achieve the investment
objectives of the Fund principally by identifying and acquinng undervalued equities and derivative
instruments of selected Japanese companies in order to effect hedged positions and will identify such
other investments as may otherwise mean the objectives of the Fund can be attained.

The Manager will seek to achieve the mvestment objectives of the Fund by creating leveraged and
risk controlled hedged positions principally invelving Japanese common stocks or related derivative
mstruments. When it believes such inwvestments offer opportunities consistent with the Fund’s
investment objectives, the Manager may also identify and acquire equity securities, equity warrants,
mterests in other equity funds, convertible bends and other denivative instroments. and may establish
uncoverad long or short positions, as Investment rather than as part of hedged positions.

The Manager will not be restricted m the types of hedgmg mechamsms or other sirategies it may use
provided that it believes that they are appropnate to achieve the Fund’s investment objectives. The
hedging mechanizms will inchode use of various forms of securities options, index firtures and options.
Hedging positions may include Japanese Eure-dollar equity warrants, other warrants, convertible bond
portfolios and conmon stocks which, from time to time, may be different from those actually covered
by related warrants or convertible bonds hedged. Uncovered long or short positions may occur during
the process of creating or unwinding a hedged position or may be acquired as part of the Fund's
investment strategy. It is anticipated that positions will generally be held between two months and
three months. While transactions may be effected m amy currency, the hManager does not intend to use
curmrency positions as part of its investment strategy.

As at the end of reporting date, the Fund owns 100% of the redeemable participating shares of the
Master Fund.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

L THE FUND (contimmued)

The Manager anticipates that the Fund will continue a further penod of up to twenty years from 22
January 2002 depending on the performance of the Fund and may be extended at the Manager’s
discretion or until the Fund is terminated as otherwise provided in the Trust Deed. The Manager may
also terminate the Fund when the net asset value of the Fund falls below JPY 100 nullion.

2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
21 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PEEPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared i accordance with IFR.Ss issued by the Internatiomal
Accounting Standard Board (“TASBE™) and inferpretations issued by the Internatiomal Finaneial
Reporting Interpretation Conmittee of IASB.

The fmancial statements have been prepared on a histonical cost basis, except for financial assets and
liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, that have been measured at fair value. The
preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFE.S requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Management believes that the estimates uhilised in prepanng its financial
statements are reasonable and prudent. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

The financial statements are presented in Japanese Yen (“JPY™) and all values are rounded to the
nearest Yen, except where otherwise indicated.

The appended financial statements of the Master Fund form an integral part of the Fund’s financial
statements.

22 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAT REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRS™)

The accounting principles adopted in the current year are consistent with those of the pnior year. There
are no other standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards that are effective for the
first time for the cumrent financial year that have a material impact on the Fund.

10
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

23 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Fund has not applied any new and revised IFF.Ss that have been 1ssued but are not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2022 in these financial statements. Among the new and revised IFR.Ss,
the following are expected to be relevant to the Fund's financial statements upon becoming effective:

Amendments to IAS 8 Dgfinition of Accounting Estimates’
Amendments to TAS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Fund is desenibed
below.

Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to I45 &

In February 2021, the IASE issued amendments to IAS 2 m which 1t introduces a definition of
“accounting estimates”. The amendments clanfy the distinction between changes in accounting
estimates and changes in accounting policies and the comection of emors. Also, they clanfy how
enfities nse measurement technigues and inputs to develop accounting estimates.

The amendments are effective for anmual reporting periods beginning on or after Jamoary 1, 2023 and
apply to changes in accounting pelicies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the
start of that period. Earlier application is permitted as long as this fact is disclosed. The amendments
are not expected to have a matenial impact on the Fund.

Diselasure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to L45 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2

In Febmary 2021, the IASB 1ssued amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements, in which it provides guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality
Judgements to accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help enfities provide accounting
pelicy disclosures that are more useful by replacing the requitement for entities to disclose their
‘significant” accounting policies with a requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies
and adding puidance on how entities apply the concept of matenality m making decisions about
accounting policy disclosures. The amendments to IAS 1 are applicable for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier application permutted. Smee the amendments to the Practice
Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guwidance on the apphication of the definition of matenal to
accounting policy information, an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The
amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Fund.

11
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Assessment as investment entity

Entities that meet the definition of an mvestment entity within IFR.S 10 are required to measure their
subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss rather than consolidate them. The criteria which define
an investment entity are, as follows.

{a) An entity that obtamns funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those
nvestors with investment services

() An entity that commits to its investors that its business purpose 15 to invest fimds solely for
refums from capital appreciation, investment mcome or both

{c) An entity that measores and evaluates the performance of substantially all of its
investments on a fair value basis

As detailed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the investment objective of the Fund and the Master
Fund is to preserve capital and to maximise capital gains, regardless of the direction of global stock
markets or interest rates, by identifying and acquinng undervalued equities and detivative instroments
of selected Japanese companies in order to effect hedged positions and will identify such other
Investments as may otherwise mean the objectives of the Fund can be attained.

Substantially all investments are reported at fair value in the Fund’s imvestors report, andited financial
statements and internal reports. The Fund does not mtend to hold the investments mdefinitely.

Based on the above, the Fund and the Master Fund meet the defimition of an investment entity. These
conclusions will be reassessed on an annual basis.

Fevenue recognition
Fevenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Fund and the
revenue can be reliably measured, on the followng bases:

(&) interest income for all financial instruments not at far valwe through profit or loss is
recognised on a fime proportion basis taking into account the principal outstanding and the
effective interest rate apphicable; and

by dividend income for all financial instnuments at fair value through profit or loss s recognised,
gross of withholding taxes, when the shareholders’ right to receive the payments has been
established, which 1s taken as being the date on which equities are quoted as ex-dividend.

12
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial metroments
{i} Classification
In accordance with IFES 9, the Fund classifies its financial assets and financial habihties at mmtal
recognition into the categonies of financial assets and finanecial liabilities discussed below.

In applymg that classification, a financial asset or financial hiability is considered to be held for

trading if:

(a) It is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near
term; or

{(b) Om mitial reco o, it iz ufapnrr&l]mnfldmh:ﬁndﬁmmalmstrmnmtsthatm
mmgedtngelf;mm ﬂmrememdmmnfamcentacmalpattemnfshmttem

fit-taking

{c) admwuve{ for a denvative that 13 a financial guarantee contract or a designated

mﬂeﬁectltfehedgmgmmptmstrmnmﬂ

Financial assefs
The Fund classifies its financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised cost or measured
at FVPL on the basis both:

(2) The Company’s business model for managing the financial assets
{b) The contractual cash flow charactenistics of the financial assets

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

(a) Its confractual terms do not nise to cash flows on specified dates that are solely payments
of principal and interest on g:e al amount outstanding; or

(b) It is not held within a business mudelwhoseohjecﬁveis either to collect contractual cash
flows, or to both cellect contractual cash flows and sell; or

(c) At initial recognition, it is imevocably designated as measured at fair value through profit or
loss when domg so eliminates or sigmificantly reduces a measurement or recognmition
mconsistency that would otherwise anse from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising
the gaimns and losses on them on different bases.

The Fund includes in this category investment in Master Fund.

13
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
Financial mstroments (continued)
(i} Classificafion (contimed)

Financial assets (confinued)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A debt instrument is measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model whose
objective 15 to hold financial assets m order to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual
terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount owtstanding. The Fund inclodes in this category short-term non-financmg
receivables including cash and cash equivalents and amounts due from TK1 J Limited.

Financial habilities

Financial liabilities measured at foir value through profit or loss

A financial liability 1s measured at fair value through profit or loss if it meets the defimition of
held for trading.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

This category includes all financial liabilities, other than those classified as at fair vahe thron
profit or loss. The Fund mcludes i this categnrg amounts relating to redemption payable,
performance fE-ES payable and accrued liabilities other payables.

{ii} Recognition
The Fund recognises a financial asset or a financial Habality when it becomes a party to the
contractnal provisions of the instrument Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention mn the
marketplace (regular wa}r trades) are recogmised on the trade date that the Fund commits to
purchase or sell the asset

(1) Initial measurement
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the statement of financial
position at fair value. All fransaction costs for such instruments are recognised directly m the
statement of comprehensive income.

Financial assets and financial liabilities (other than those classified as at fair value through profit
or loss) are measured initially at their fair value plus any directly atiributable incremental costs
of acquisition or issue.

14
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
Financial mstroments (continued)

{iv) Subsequent measurement
After mutial measurement, the Fund measures financial mstruments which are classified as at
FVPL, at fair value. Subsequent changes in the fair value of those financial instruments are
recogmised m profit or loss as they anse. Interest earmed on these instruments are recorded
separately In interest income.

Debt instruments, other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss, are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any allowance for impaimment. Gains
and losses are recopmised in profit or loss when the debt nstruments are derecogmsed or impaired,
as well as through the amortisation process.

Financial liabilities, other than those classified as at fair valee through profit or loss are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method Gains and losses are recogmised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised, as well as through the amortisation process.

The effective mterest method 1s a method of caleulating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
a financial liability and of allocating and recognising the interast income or interast expense in
profit or loss over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated fiuture cash payments or receipts through the expected Life of the financial asset or
financial liability to the gross camrying amount of the financial asset or to the amortised cost of
the financial liability. When caleulating the effective interest rate, the Fund estimates cash flows
considering all contractual terms of the financial mstroments, but does not consider expected
credit losses. The calculation includes all faes paid or received between parties to the contract
that are an integral part of the effective mterest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or
discounts.

v} Derecogmition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or a part of a group of similar
financial assets) is derecogmised where the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired o1 the Fund has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed
an obligation to pay the received cash flows in fll without material delay to a third party under
a pass-throngh amrangement and either: (a) the Fund has transferred substantially all the nsks and
rewards of the asset; or (b) the Fund has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the nisks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Fund has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset (or has entered into
a pass-through amrangement), and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the nsks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recogmised to the extent
of the Fund’s continuing involvement in the asset In that case, the Fund also recopmises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the nghts and obligations that the Fund have retained. The Fund derecognises a financial
lLiability when the oblization under the hability is discharged, cancelled or expired.

15
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continned)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash at bank, time deposits with an criginal maturity of three

months or less, and short term . highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of
cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Cash on hand and at bank which are denominated in JPY are carmed at cost. Cash denominated m
other currencies are translated into JPY at the applicable rates of exchange at the statement of financial
position date.

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank.

Amounts due from/to Master Fund

Amounts doe from/to Master Fund include redemption/subscription proceeds payable to/receivable
from the Master Fund for units redeemed/subscribed but not yet settled at the date of the financial
statements.

Subscription/redemption receivable/payable
SubscriptionTedemption receivable/payable includes amoeunts recervable’payable for capital
transactions that have not settled at the date of the financial statements.

Unitholders® capital
A puttable financial mstroment 15 classified as an equity mstroment 1f 1t has all of the following
features:

+ It entitles the holder to a pro rata share of the Fund’s net assets in the event of the Fund’s

*+ The instrument is in the class of instruments that 1= subordinate to all other classes of
mstruments.

+ Al financial instroments in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of
instruments have identical features.

*  The instument does not include any contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial
asset other than the holder’s rights to a pro rata share of the Fund's net assets.

*  The total expected cash flows attributable to the mstmment over the life of the instrument are
based substantially on the profit or loss, the change m the recogmised net assets or the change
in the fair value of the recognised and unrecogmsed net assets of the portfolio over the life of
the instrument.

In addition to the instrument having all the above features, the Fund nwst have no other financial
nstrument or contract that has:

*  Total cash flows based substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the recognised net assets
of the change in the fair value of the recognised and unrecognised net assets of the Fund, and

* The effect of substantially restricting or fixing the residual refum to the puttable instrument
holders.

The Fond's redeemable umits meet the defimtion of puttable mstruments classified as equity
instruments under the revised IAS 32
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Eelated parties
A party is considered to be related to the Fund if:

{(a) the party iz a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person,

(i) has control or joint control over the Fund;
(i) has significant inflnence over the Fund; or
(i) 1is a member of the key management personnel of the Fund or of a parent of the Fund;

or
{b) the party 15 an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Fund are members of the same trust;

(if) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(i1i} the entity and the Fund are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one enfity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of third
entity;

(v) the enfity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Fund
of an entity related to the Fund;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jomntly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vit) a persom identified in (a)(1) has significant mfluence over the entity or i3 a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the enfity); and

(viii} the entity, or any member of a group of which it 15 a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Fund or to the parent of the Fund.

Determination of fair value
The Fund measures its investments at fair value at each reporting date.

Fair value 13 the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an crderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date

The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal for the asset or hiability or, in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the meost
advantageous market must be accessible to the Fund

The fair value of an asset or a hability is measured nsing the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assummg that market participants act in their economic
best interest.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Determination of fair value (continued)

The fair value for financial mstruments traded in active markets at the reporting date is based on their
quoted price or binding dealer price quotations (last trade prices). Securities defined in these accounts
as “listed”™ are fraded in an active market. Where the Find has financial assets and financial habilities
with offsefting positions in market risks or counterparty credit risk, it has elected to use the
measurement exception provided in IFES 13 to measure the far value of its net nisk exposure by
applymg last trade price to the net open position as appropriate.

All assets and habilities for which fair value 1s measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categonised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
15 sigmficant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

# Levell - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabalities

* Level2? —Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that 15 significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable

# Level3 —Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurming basis, the Fund
determines whether transfers have ccowred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing the
categonisation (based on the lowest level input that is sigmficant to the fair value measurement as a
whole] at the beginning of each reporting penod

Functional and presentation cirency

The functional currency reflects the comency in which the Fund primarily generates and expends cash
from 1ts activities. Transactions in foreign currencies other than the functional currency are recorded
at the rates ruling at the date of transaction.

The functional currency and presentation currency of the Fund are both in Japanese Yen (“JPY™) and
all values are rounded to the nearest Yen, except where otherwise indicated.

Foreign cwmency transactions
These financial statements are presented m Japanese Yen (“JPY™), which is the Fund s functional and
presentation cumency. Forelgn currency tramsactions are imitially recorded using the fimctional
currency rates raling at the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and habilities denommated m
foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional cwrrency rates of exchange mling at the end of
reporting date. All exchange differences are taken to the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
are translated using the exchange rates as the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
1tems measured at fair value In a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair valne was determined.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, all assets and liabilities of the Fund are denominated in the fimetional
Curmency.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Met gan or loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Met gains or losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are changes in the fair value
of financial assets held for trading or designated upon initial recogmition as at fair value through profit
or loss and exclude interest and dividend income and expenses.

Unrealised gains and losses comprise changes in the fair valoe of financial instruments for the period
and from reversal of the prier period’s unrealised gains and losses for financial instroments which
were realised in the reporting period. Realised gains and losses on disposals of financial mstroments
classified as at fair value through profit or loss are calculated using weighted average method. They
represent the difference between an instrument’s initial carrying amount and disposal amount, or cash
payments or receipts made on derivative comtracts (excluding payments or receipts on collateral
margin accounts for such instruments).

Income tax

The Fund 1= exempt from all forms of taxation m the Cayman Islands. meluding meome, capital gaims
and withholding taxes. However, in some junsdictions, investment income and capital gams are
subject to withholding tax deducted at the source of the income.

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTION

The preparation of financial statements m confornuty with IFES requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Management believes that the estimates utilised in preparing its financial
statements are reasonable and prudent. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongeing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimates are revised and in any future years affected.

Going concemn

The Fund’s management has made an assessment of the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concemn
and 1s satisfied that the Fund has the resources to confinue m business for the foreseeable future.
Furthermore, management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast sigmficant doubt
upon the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concem. Therefore, the financial statements continue
to be prepared on the going concern basis.

Fair value of financial mstruments

When the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial
position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation
techmiques that melede the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models are taken from
observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgements are regquired
in establishing fair valunes. The judgements include considerations of hquidity and model inputs such
as credit risk (both own and counterparty’s), comelation and volatility. Changes in assumptions about
these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial mstruments. The models are calibrated
regularly and tested for validity using prices from any observable curment market transactions in the
same instruments (without modification or repackaging) or based on any available observable market
data.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2022
5. FEES
Investment management fee

The Manager 13 entitled to receive a fee, payable monthly in amears, calculated at an annual rate of
1.0% {may be increased up to a rate of 1.5% of the net asset value on giving three months notice to
umithelders) on the net asset value of the Fund at each month end The investment management fee
for the year ended 31 March 2022 was JEY291, 769,904 (2021: JPY277,860,458). As at 31 March
2022, an mvestment management fee of JPY23,189,381 (2021: JPY29,173,456) was payable to the
Manager.

The WManager 15 not entitled to any investment management fiee from the Master Fund.

Performance fee

The WManager i3 alzo entitled to receive an annual performance fee at 20% of any increase in net asset
value per unit above an initial 3% increase in the highest net asset valoe per unit (after any performance
fee and amy distribution) as at the last dealing day of any preceding financial year, payable annually
m amrears. The performance fee for the year emded 31 March 2022 was JPYMNil (2021:
JPY115,435,055). As at 31 March 2022, performance fee of JPYNil (2021: JPY115,435,055) was
payable to the Manager.

The Manager 13 not entitled to any performance fee from the Master Fund.

Trostee’s fee and administration fee

The trustee, HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited, is entitled to receive a fixed fee of US$1 000 per month
for feeder fund administration services, and certain transaction fees, as agreed with the Manager from
time to time.

The admimstration fee for the year ended 31 March 2022 was JFY1,355.200 (2021: JPY1.270 445).

As at 31 March 2022, an admimistration fee of JFY 122,055 (2021: JFY110,843) was payable to the
Trostes.

6. TAXATION

Under the cumrent laws of the Cayman Islands. there 15 no income, withholding, capital gains,
corporation, inhentance, or estate taxes of any deseniption.

The Fund has received an undertaking from the Government of the Cayman Islands m accordance
with section 21 of the Trust Law (2011 Revision) of Cayman Island that for a period of fifty years
from 30 March 1999 (date of establishment), no law which is hereafter enacted in the Cayman Islands
imposing any such taxes shall apply to the Fund.

The Fund 15 not subject to any Japanese tax on income of capital gains. As a result, no tax liability has
been recorded in the financial statements.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

T FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR. VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OF. LOSS

2022 2021

JPY JEY

Investment in the Master Fund 27083247670 31216803348
Met changes in fair value on financial assets through

profit or loss:

Realized 6,548,903 867 1,939.318.760

Unrealised (6.965,001,200) 6,508,242.150

Total gains (416,097,333) 8,447 560,910

The Fund mvested i the Master Fund divectly and invested in hsted equity secunties through the
Master Fund.

8 FATFR. VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTEUMENTS

Assets and liabilities for which fair value 13 measured or disclosed in the financial statement are
categonized within the fair valoe ierarchy described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
15 sigmficant to the fair value measurement as a whole.

# Tevell Quoted (unadjusted)market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

* Tevel? Valuation techmigques for which the lowest level mput that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable

* Level3 WValuation techmques for which the lowest level mput that 15 significant to the fair
value measurement 1z unobservable

Assessing the significance of a particular input requires judgement, considering factors specific to the
assets or Labilities.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
PY IPY IPY JPY

2022

Tnvestment in the Master Fund - 27,083,247.670 - 27,083,247.670

2021
Investment in the Master Fund - 31,216,805,348 - 31,216,805 348

21

97/212



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

9. CASHAND CASHEQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank of JPY942,080 (2021 JPY'782,134) was placed at the Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking

Corporation Lmited ("HSBC™), an affiliate of the Trustee, as at end of reporting date. The entire
amount was placed in a non-interest bearing account.

10. NUMBEE. OF REDEEMABLE UNITS IN ISSUE

2022 2021

Units Units
Balance at begmning of the year 130,768 141 675
Izsuances 17,300 -
Fedemptions (29,504) (10,907}
Balance at end of the year 118,564 130,768

The redeemable units are offered on each dealing day, 1.e. the last business day of each calendar month.

11 MNET ASSET VALUE PEE. EEDEEMABLE UNIT

The calculation of the net asset value per redeemable unit is based on the net assets as at 31 March
2022 of JPY27,080,225282 (2021: JPY31,099,074,900) and 118,564 (2021: 130,768) redesmable
umits in issue as at that date.

12. CAPITAL
The Fund's net assets are represented by outstanding umits in the Fund in issue.

The investment objectives of the Fund are to preserve capital and to maximise capital gains, regardless
of the direction of the global stock markets or interest rates. The Fund aims to achieve this objective
by operating as a feeder find that mvests all of its assets mfo TK1 J Limited, an exempted company

ted in the Cayman Islands on 18 Jammary 2001 and a regulated mumial fimd inder saction
4(3) of the Mutual Funds Aet (2020 Revizsion) of Cayman Islands. The Master Fund has the same aim
as the Fund and it achieves the objectives by identifying and acquiring undervalued equities and
denvative mstruments of selected Japanese companies m order to effect hedped posthons. Such
objectives can also be achieved by 1dentifying and acquinng equity warrants, interests in other equity
funds, convertible bonds, and may establish uncovered long or short positions, as mvestment rather
than as part of hedged positions.

The Fund strives to mvest the subscription money of umits in mvestments that meet the Fund’s
mnvesiment objective while maintaiming sufficient liquidity to meet the unitholder’s redemption
request. The Fund may dispose of its financial assets, when necessary, to meet liquidity needs.

The Fund does not have any externally imposed capital requirement.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

12. CAPITAL (continued)
The rights attaching to the umits are as follows:

Units may be redeemed on each dealing day, i.e., the last business day of each calendar month or such
other day or days as the Manager with the approval of the Trustee may from time to time prescribe.
Fedemption price is determined by rounding down to the nearest Japanese Yen of net asset value per
umit. The vnitholder mmst request such a redemption by no later than the dealmg deadline, i.e. at least
10 business days prior to the last business day of each calendar month or the Manager may i its
discretion extend the period required for notice.

Unitholders have the right to receive notice of, attend or vote at any general meeting of the Fund. The
mmithelders are entitled to recerve all dividends declared and paid by the Fund. Upon winding up, the
umithelders are entitled to a return of net assets of the Fund as of the date.

As at 31 March 2022, no subscription proceeds (2021: Nil) was receivable from imvestors and
redemption payments of JPFY200,079 276 (2021: JPY1,023 806,490) was payable to investors. Units
are izsned and redeemed in accordance with the Tmst Deed.

2022 2021
JPY JBY

Subscription receivable, beginning of the year -
Subscriptions during the year 3,264.716,200 -
Subszcription receivable, end of the year -

Proceeds from issuance of redeemable wnits 3.864 716,200 -
Redemption payable, beginmmg of the year 1,023 806,490 1,301 648 400
Fedemption during the year 7,166,987 324 2,209,555 962
Fedemption payable, end of the year (200,079.276)  (1,023,806,490)
Payment for redemption of redeemable umnits 7.990,714 538 2 48T 397872

13. DISTRIBUTION

No distribution was paid and payable during the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

14, FELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Manager 13 entitled to receive investment management fee and performance fee from the Fund,
with details disclosed in Note 5.

The Fund redeemed shares amounting to JEY223 313,700 dunng the year which remain due from
TE1 J Limited as at 31 March 2022 (2021: JPY1,053,330,310).
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

15. FINANCIAL RISE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS

Risks arising from holding financial instruments are inherent in the Fund’s activities, and are managed
through a process of ongoing measurement and momtoring. The Fund 15 exposed to credit msk,

Financial instruments of the Fund comprize investments in financial assets at fair value through profit
of loss for the purpose of generating a refurm on the investment made by unitholders, amounts due

from TK1 J Limited, redemption payable, performance fees payable, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities and cash and cash equivalents.

The Manager is responsible for identifying and controlling the risks that anise from these financial
nstruments.

The misks are measured using a method that reflects the expected impact on the results and net assets
attributable to unitholders of the Fund from reasonably possible changes in the relevant risk variables
such as change in global market environment, mterest rate and currency fluctuations, credit ratmgs of
the Fund’s constituents and liqudity nisk and price nisk of the investing equity securities. Information
about these nsk exposures at the reporting date, measured on this basis, is disclosed below.
Information about the total fair value of financial instriments exposed to nisk, as well as 1ts compliance
with established investment mandate, which are presented by the Investment and Bomowing
Restrictions listed in Explanatory Memorandum, 15 also monitored by the Manager. These mandate
limits reflect the mvestment strategy and market environment of the Fund, as well as the level of nisk
that the Fund is willing to accept, with addifional emphasis on selected mdustries.

Concentration of risk anses when a number of financial imstruments or contracts are entered into with
the same counterparty, or a number of counterparties engaging in similar business activites, or
conducting activities in the same geographic region, or share simlar economic features that would
cause their abilities to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes to economic
or political conditions.

This information 15 prepared and reported to relevant parties on a monthly basis as deemed appropriate,
including the Manager and Investment Adwvisor.

The sensitivity analysis presented below is based on management’s best estimate of the sensitrvity to
a reasonably possible change. In practice, the actual trading resnlts may differ from the sensitivity
analysis and the differences could be material.

(a) Market Risk

Market nisk 15 the risk that the value of financial assets will fluctuate as a result of changes in
market prices whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the mmdividual assets or
factors affecting all assets in the market such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity
prices. Market risk is managed and monitored using sensitivity analysis in equity price of the
mmvestment in Master Fund, and minimised through epsuring that all investment activities are
undertaken in accordance with established mandate limits and mvestment strategies.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2022

15. FINANCIAL RISKE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (continued)
(a) Market Rizk (contmued)
(1) Interest rate nisk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to
changes in market mterest rates.

Az at the end of reporting date, the Fund’s exposure to interest rate nisk 1s considered to be
minimal as all of the Fund’s assets are comprised by mvestment in the Master Fund and
amounts due from the Master Fund and cash balance was placed in a non-interest bearing
account at the bank.

(i) Currency nsk
Currency nisk is the nsk that the valne of financial assets or liabilities will finctuate due to
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Fund's exposure to currency risk is minimal as the

Fund’s cash and bank balances and investments which are denominated in currencies other
than Japanese Yen are inimaterial.

(i) Equity price nisk

Equity price risk is the nsk that the fair value of equities decreases as a result of changes
market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individnal stock
of factors affecting all instruments in the market. Equity price risk exposure anses from the
Fund’s investment.

Equity price nsk 1= managed by the Manager by constructing a diversified portfolio of
instruments operated by Master Fund. The following table details the breakdown of the
mvestment asset held by the Fund:

2022 2021
% of net asset %o of net asset

Financial assets at fair value throngh profit or loss
Investment in Master Fund 100.01 100.38
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

15. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (contimued)
(a) Market Rizk (contmued)
(i) Equity price risk (continued)
The Manager's best estimate of the effect on the net assets for a year due to a reasonably
possible change in Nikkei 225 Index, with all other variable held constant, is indicated
the table below. In practice, the actual trading results may differ from the sensitvity analysis

below and the difference could be material An equivalent increase or decrease m Nikken
225 Index shown below would have resulted in an eguivalent impact.

Changes m Nikke: 225 Changes in

Index NAV
From 1 Apnl 2021 to 31 March 2022 -4.65% -3.96%
From 1 Apml 2020 to 31 March 2021 -34.24% -3337%

Concentration of market risk exposurs

Az of 31 March 2022 and 2021, all of equity secumities of the Master Fund are hsted in
Japan. The concentration of market risk by geographical location is managed by the
diversification of investment in vanous industry sectors. An industry sector analysis of the
Master Fund's financial assets and liabilities 15 disclosed in the Master Fund’s notes to
financial statements.

The Fund continuously monitors the credit standmg of its counterparties and does not expect
any matenial losses as a result of this concentration.

(b) Liquidity Risk

Liguidity nsk 1z the nsk that the Fund will encoumter difficulty m raismg fimds to meet
commitments associated with financial liabilities. Ligmdity nisk may result from an mability to
settle a financial hiability quickly at an amount close to its fair value.

The Fund’s exposure to ligmdity risk is relatively low. as unitholders are allowed to redeem
mvestment in Master Fund on a monthly basis. Further, to prevent the short-term liquidity problem
which may be caused by huge redemptions in a single dealing day to the Fund, the Manager is
entitled at 1ts discretion to limit the aggregate of the number of units redeemed to 10% of the total
number of units in izsue. The Manager may also suspend the night of unitholders to require
redemption of their units and‘or may delay the payment of the redemption price during any peried
when the determination of the net asset value of the Fund is suspended.

In addition, the Fund mamtains sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet normal operating
Tequirements.

Maturity analysis for financial Gabilities

Financial liabilities of the Fund comprise accounts payable and accrued liabilities, performance
fees payable, and redemption payable. These financial liabalities have no contractual maturity but
are typically settled within 30 days.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

15. FINANCIAL RISE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (confinned)
() Credit Risk

Credit risk relates to the extent to which the Fund could be impacted by failures by counterparties
to discharge their obligations or commitment they have entered mto with the Fund. It could reduce
the amount of future cash flows from financial assets on hand as at the end of reporting date.

The carrying amount of financial assets best represents the maximum credit nsk exposure at the
end of reporting date. This relates also to financial assets camed at amortised cost, as they have a
short-term to matunty. This does not represent the maximum risk exposure that could anse in the
future as a result of changes in values, but represents the coment maximum exposure at the
Teporting date.

As of the end of reporting date, the Fund’s financial assets exposed to credit nisk amounted to
JPY27,307,503,450 (2021: JPY32,270,917,792), which represented the camying amount of
finanecial assets at fair value through profit or loss, amomnts due from TE1 J Limited and cash and
cash equivalents as presented in the statement of financial position.

The Fund holds no collateral as secunty or any other credit enhancements (2021: Nil). There are
no financial assets that are past due or impaired, or would otherwise be past due or impaired except
for the terms having been renegotiated (2021: Nil).

Concentration of credit risk exposure

Cash held by the Fund is held by H5BC located in Hong Kong. Bankmiptcy or msolvency by
HSBC may cause the Fund’s nghts with respect to the cash held by HSEC to be delayed or limited.
The Fund monitors its risk by momitoring the eredit quality and finaneial positions of HSBC. If
the credit quality or the financial position of HSBC deteriorates significantly, the Manager will
move the cash holdings to another bank as scon as practical. The related credit ratings from
Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) for HSBC 13 “A-" (2021: A7)

Financial assets subject fo IFRS 9's impairment requivemenis

The Fund's financial assets subject to the ECL model within TFES 9 are, amounts due from TE1
J Limited and cash and cash equivalents. At 31 March 2022, the total amount of these financial
assets is JPY224 255,780 (2021: JPY1,054,112,444), on which no loss allowance had been
provided. No assets are considered impaired and no amounts have been written off during the year.

Financial assets not subject to IFRS 0°s impairment requirements

The Fund is exposed to credit risk on investment in Master Fund. They are not subject to IFES
s Impairment requirements as they are measured at fair value through profit or loss. The camying
value of these assets, under IFRS 9 represents the Fund’s maximum exposure to credit nsk on
financial instruments not subject to the IFES 9 impainment requirements on the respective
reporting dates. Hence, no separate maxinmm exposure to credit risk disclosure 1s provided for
these instruments.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2022

16. EVENTS AFTER. THE REPORTING DATE
Subsequent to the reporting date and up to the date of the financial statements, 10 redesmable

participating shares were redeemed for total redemption payments of JFY2 407,730, There were no
other material events to be disclosed after the reporting date.

17. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authonsed for 1ssue by the Manager and Trustee on
153 July 2022
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Errest & Yoursg Led, Teh +1 345 049 B444
62 Forum Lane Fenc: +1 345 D40 BE20
Camana Bay SREOom

POy Box 510

Building a better Grand Cayman K¥1-1106
working world CAYMAN ISLANDS

Independent Auditor’s Report

The Board of Dhrectors
TE]1 T Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Ohpini

We have andited the financial statements of TE1 J Limuted (the “Fund ™), winch comprize the statement of financial
posttion as at 31 March 2022, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes
in net assets atiributable to holders of redeemable participating shares and statement of cash flows for the year then
ended. and notes to the financial statements, meliding a sEwmary of sigmficant accoumting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairtly, in all material respects, the fmancial posiion of
the Fund as at 31 March 2022, and 1t finanecial performancs and its cash flows for the vear then ended in accordance
with Infernational Fmancial Reporting Standards (IFE.Ss).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our amdit m accordance with Infernational Standards on Anditing (ISAs). Chr responsibilities under
those standards are fiwther dasenbed in the duditor s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section
of our report. We are mdependent of the Fuind m accordance with the Infernationz]l Ethies Standards Beard for
Accountants” International Code qf Ethics for Professional Accourtants {including ternational Independence
Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fiulfilled our other ethical responsibilities m accordance with the IESB A Code.
Wa believe that the andit evidences we have obtamed 15 sufficient and appropmate to provide a basis for our opimon.

Orther Information

Other information consists of the mnformation mcluded in the Fund's management and admumistation histing and the
wmandited mvestment portfolio. Management 15 responsible for the other mformation.

asmrance conclusion thereon

In connection with our andit of the fimancial statements, our responsibility is to read the other mformation and, In
knowledze obtained m the audit or otherwise appears to be materially muisstated If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is 2 material misstatement of this other mformation, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothimz to report m this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements

Management 15 responzible for the preparation and farr presentation of the financial statements m accordance with
IFESs, and for such mtemnal control as mamgement determines 1= necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are frae from matenal msstatement, wheather due to frand or emor.

A mermbar Arm of Ermi: & Young Clokal Limiesd
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In prepanny the financial statements management 15 respomsible for assessme the Fund's abality to contimie as a going
concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to zomg concem and usmg the zomg concem basis of accounting
unless managemnent either intends to liquidate the Fond or to cease operations, or kas no realistic alternative but to do

0.
The Board of Dhrectors 15 responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial reporting process.
Auditor's Rezponsibilities for the Aundit of the Financial Statements

Chur report 15 made solely to vou, as a body, and for no other popose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accapt lizbility to amy other person for the contents of this repert.

Chur objectives are to obfam reasonable asmuance about whether the fimancial statements as a whoele are free fiom
material musstatement, whather due to frand or emor, and to 1s;ue an andritor’s report that includes owr opimon.
FReasonable assurance 15 a lugh level of assurance, but 1s not a guarantes that an audit conducted mn accordance with
15As will always detect a matenial musstatement when it exasts. Misstatements can arnse from frand or emwor and are
considered material if, mdividually or in the aggregate, they conld reasonably be expected to influence the economuc
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial staternants.

As part of an audit in accordance with [SAs we exercise professional jud gment and mamtam profassional skepticism
throughout the andit. We also:

»  Identfy and assess the nisks of material musstatement of the finaneial statements whether due to fiaud or
emor, design and perform audit procedures responsmve to those risks, and obtamn audit evidence that 1s
sufficient and appropnate o provide a basis for our opimion. The n=k of not detecting a material ne=staternernt

resuliing from fizud 15 higher than for one resultmg from emror, as frand mav mvolve collusion, forgery,
intentional onuissions, mmsrepresentations, or the overnde of intemal control.

+  Obtamn an understandmz of mternal control relevant to the andit in order to desizn audit procedures that are
appropriate in the ciroumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opimon on the effectivensss of the
Fund’s miemal control.

+  Fxaluate the appropriatensss of accommiing policies nsed and the reasenablensss of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

s Conechide on the appropriatensss of manapement’s wse of the zome concern basis of accoumting and | bassd
on the audit evidence obtained whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast sipnificant doubt on the Fund’s ability to confinne 25 2 gomyz concemn. If we conchods that a muaterial
Tmcertamty exists, we are required to draw attention in owr auditor’s report to the related disclosures m the
fmancial statements or, 1if such disclosures are madaquate, to modify our opmion. Char conclusions are based
on the andit evidence obtained up to the date of owr auditor’s report. However, fishmre events or conditions
may cause the Fund to cease to conhiime as a gong concem.

+  Fvalmate the overall presentation, shuctare and content of the financial statements, inchuding the disclosures,
and whether the financial statemnents represent the wnderlying transactions and events m a manmer that
achieves fair presentation.

A mermbar Arm of Ermi: & Young Clokal Limiesd
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We commmmieate with the Board of Directors reparding, among other matters, the planned scope and tmmmg of the
mﬂa@ﬁpﬁmﬂaﬂﬁtﬁdﬂgﬁh&nﬁnﬁmdgﬁ&aﬂhﬁdmmmm&ﬂmhﬁﬁm

- memi

Grand Cayman, Cayran Islands
15 Faly 2022

A mermbar Arm of Ermi: & Young Clokal Limiesd
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TE1 J LIMITED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 March 2022
Notes 2022 2021
IFY JFY
ASSETS
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7.8 23081213917 35624013965
Amounts due from a prime broker o - 2342 660
Dividends receivable 283,847,168 267.470,063
Margin deposits 10 3.054.500,742 4
Other recervable and prepayments 556,337 -
Cash and cash equivalents 11 11,454,787 54,691,870
TOTAL ASSETS 27331572951 35948518562
SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY
Share capital 12 10,000 10,000
LIABILITIES (EXCLUDING NET ASSETS
ATTRIBUTAELE TO HOLDEERS OF
REDEEMAEBLE PARTICIPATING SHARES)
Amounts due to a prime broker 9 17.670,142 3.670.453.716
Redemptions payable 15 223313700 1.053,330,310
Other payable and accruals 7331430 7,919,188
TOTAL LIABILITIES 248315281 4.731,703.214
INET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS
OF REDEEMABLE PARTICIFATING SHARES 13 27083247670  31.216,805.348
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY 27331572951 35948518562
INUMBEF. OF REDEEMABLE
PARTICIPATING SHARES IN ISSUE (units) 13 103,087 115285
NET ASSET VALUE PER. REDEEMABLE
PARTICIPATING SHARE (JPY) 13 262,722 270,779
WX ’rru.,,é&/
Director |, Director I

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TE1 J LIMITED

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOS5 AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 March 2022
Notes 2022 20m
JFY JFY
INCOME
Dividend income 885,673,751 818,511,541
Sundry income 27 20
885,673,778 818,511,621
EXPENSES
Administration fee 5 30,282 769 37669913
Andit fee 3,625,984 3,366,656
Dividends cn financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss 160,000 -
Interest expense 8,178,743 25,845,533
Legal and professional fees 211925 391 464
Stock borrowing fees 24251 4,271
Transaction fee expense 10,174,151 6.887.279
Withholding taxes on dividend income 135,583,043 125,355,038
Other operating expenses 1,100335 1,715949
198,341,203 201,236,703
PROFIT BEFORE INVESTMENT AND
EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES 687,332,575 617,274,918
INVESTMENT AND EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES
Net change in unrealised (losses)/gains on financial assets
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 7 (3,806,790,724) 5,971,147 453
et realised gams on financial assets and liabalities
at fair value through profit or loss 7 2,703,739.759 1,859.167,184
Net exchanpge differences ( 378943y ( 28.643)

(1,103.429008)  7.830,285.992

(LOSS)PR.OFIT FOR. THE YEAR. AND TOTAL
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR { 416,007 333) 8.447 360,910

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fimancial statements.
5
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TE1 J LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO
HOLDERS OF REDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARES

Year ended 31 March 2022

Balance at 31 March 2020
Redemption of redeemable participating shares

Profit for the year and total comprehensive income for the year
Balance at 31 March 2021

Issue of redeemable participating shares
Redemption of redeemable participating shares

Loss for the year and total comprehensive income for the year

Balance at 31 March 2022

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
T

111/212

EDINETOOOO

00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)

Motes

13

13

13

Ooooooooooooooooooad

JFY
253,264,348,998

(2,495104.560)

8,447,560,910

31,216,805,348
3,844 242 936

(7,561,703,281)

( 416,097333)

27,083,247,670



TE1 J LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 March 2022
Note

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit for the year and total comprehensive
meome for the year
Adjustments for:
Dividend income, net of withholding taxes
Dividends on financial ligbilities at fair value
through profit or loss

Purchases of financial assets and settlement of financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Proceeds from financial hiabilities and sale of financial
aszets at fair value through profit or loss

et realised gans on financial assets and habalities at
fair value through profit or loss

Net change in unrealised losses/(gains) on financial assets
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from prime broker

Increase in margin deposits

Increase in other receivable and prepayments

(Decrease)/merease in amounts due to pome broker

(Decrease)/merease in other payable and accruals

Cash generated from operations

Dividends recerved

Dividends paid on securities sold not yet purchased

Net cash inflows from operating activities

CASHFLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares
Bedemption of redeemable participating shares
Net cash outflows from financing activities
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 11
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 11

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank 11
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2022 2021
IPY IPY

( 416,097.333)  8.447,560.910
( 750,000708) ( 693,156,503
160,000 _
(1.166,028,041)  7.754.404.407
(4.285,605,834)  (4,871.645.852)
14.825.444917  5,052.951.557
(2,703,739.759)  (1,859,167.184)
3,806,790.724  (5,971,147.433)
2342660 ( 2,342.660)
(3,054.500,738) -
(536337 :
(3,652.783,574) 727,979,196
(  587.749) 860,677
3,770.686.269 831,901,688
733,713,603 705,634,911

¢  160,000) ( 29.736.000)
4504239872 1,507,800,599
3,844.242.936 .
(8301.719,891)  (2,764.920,522)
(4547476,955)  (2,764,920,522)
( 43237083) (1,257,119.923)
54691870  1,311,811,793
11,454,787 54,691,870
11,454,787 54,691,870

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

1 THE FUND

TEK1 J Lomited (the “Fund™) is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 January 2001
under the Compamies Law of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability and
registered under the Cayman Islands Mutual Funds Act. The Fund commenced operations on 23
January 2002 The Fund iz managed by Tower Asset Management Limited (the “Manager™) and
Tower Investment Management Co. Limited acts as the investment advisor (the “Investment
Advizor”).

The Fund operates as a master find to Tower K1 J-Fund, a unit trost established under the laws of the
Cayman Islands by a Trust Deed dated 30 March 1999 (as amended), for the purpose of holding the
assets of Tower K1 J-Fund. The Fund currently has only one investor, Tower K1 J-Fund (the “Feeder
Fund™).

The Fund’s investment objectives are to preserve capital and to maximise capital gains, regardless of
the direction of global stock markets or nterest rates. The Manager will seek to achieve the investment
objectives of the Fund principally by identifying and acquinng undervalued equities and derivative
mstruments of selected Japanese companies m order to effect hedged positions and will identify such
other investments as may otherwise mean the objectives of the Fund can be attained

The Manager will create leveraged and nsk controlled hedged positions prmcipally mvelving
Japanese common stocks or related derivative instruments. When it believes such investments offer
opportunities consistent with the Fund's mvestment objectives, the Manager may also identify and
acguire eguity securities, equity warrants, interests in other equity funds, convertible bonds and other
denvative instroments, and may establish uncovered long or short positions, as investment rather than
as part of hedged positions.

The directors of the Fund anticipate that the Fund will continze for a period up to twenty-five years
depending on the performance of the Fund and may be reduced or extended at the Manager's
dizcretion in which case the Fund may continue for a longer or shorter period or until as otherwise
provided in the Memorandum of Asseciation. The Manager may also terminate the Fund when the net
asset value of the Fund falls below JEY100,000,000.

HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited was appointed as the administrator (the “Administrator”) of the
Fund.

2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
21 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PEEPARATION

The financial staternents have been prepared in accordance with IFR.Ss izsued by the International
Accounting Standard Beard ("IASB™) and interpretations issued by the Intemational Financial
Reporting Interpretation Committes of IASB.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial assets and
liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, that have been measured at fair value. The
preparation of the financial statements in conformuty with IFRS requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Management believes that the estimates utilised i preparing its financial
statements are reasonable and prudent. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

9
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

L CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (contimed)

21 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
The financial statements are presented in Japanese Yen (“JPY™) and all values are rounded to the
nearest ¥ en, except where otherwise indicated.

22  IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("IFES™)
The accounting principles adopted in the current year are consistent with those of the prior year. There
are no other standards, imterpretations or amendments to existing standards that are effective for the
first tmme for the cument financial year that have a material impact on the Fund.

23 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
The Fund has not applied any new and revised IFF.Ss that have been issued but are not yet effective

for the year ended 31 March 2022 in these financial statements. Among the new and revised IFR.Ss,
the following are expected to be relevant to the Fund's financial statements upon becoming effective:

Amendments to [AS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates’
Amendments to TAS 1 and
IFR.S Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

! Effective for annual peviods beginning on or after January 1, 2023

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Fund iz described
below.

nition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to I45 8

In February 2021, the IASE issued amendments to IAS 2 in which it introduces a definition of
“accounting estimates”. The amendments clanfy the distinetion between changes in accounting
estimates and changes in accounting policies and the comection of errors. Alse, they clanfy how
entities use measurement technigues and inputs to develop accounting estimates.

The amendments are effective for annmal reporting periods beginning on or after Jamary 1, 2023 and
apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the

start of that peried. Earlier application is permitted as long as this fact is disclosed. The amendments
are not expected to have a material impact on the Fund.

10
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (contimed)
23 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)

Diseclasure of Accounting Policies - Amendments fo 145 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2

In Febmary 2021, the IASB i1ssued amendments to [AS 1 and IFES Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgﬂnmts, in which it provides guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality
Judgements to accoumting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help enfities provide accounting
policy disclosures that are more useful by replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their
‘sigmificant’ accounting policies with a requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies
and adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of mateniality m makmg decisions about
accounting policy disclosures. The amendments to IAS 1 are applicable for annual perieds beginning
on of after January 1, 2023 with earlier application permitted. Since the amendments to the Practice
Statement 2 provide non-mandatory goidance on the application of the definition of material to
accounting policy mmformation, an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The
amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Fund.

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Fevenue recognition
Fevenue 1s recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Fund and when
the revemue can be reliably measured, on the following bases:

(g) interest income for all finanecial instruments not at far value through profit or loss 13 recogmized
on a time proportion basis taking into account the principal outstanding and the effective mterest
rate applicable; and

(b)  dividend income for all financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised, gro
of withholding taxes, when the shareholders’ nght to receive the payments has bemestabhshed,
whmhmtakenxsbemgthadalemw]mheqmﬂesmquut&dasex—dwldmﬂ

Financial mstruments

i) Classification
In accordance with IFRS 9, the Fund classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities at imitial
recognition into the categonies of financial assets and financial liabilities discussed below.

In applying that classification, a financial asset or financial liability iz considered to be held for
trading if:

(a) It1is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near
term; or
(b) On imitial recognition, 1t is part of a portfolio of identified financial mstruments that are
mmﬁg;igggﬁhumdfmwhch,ﬂlerelsemdmceufarecentacmalpattemofshmmrm
t or
{c) Itisa demvative (; for a derivative that 15 a financial guarantee contract or a designated
m:leﬁ?ectwehadgugmptmstrmnmﬂ

11
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Financial mstruments (continued)
{1} Classification (continued)

Financial assets
The Fund classifies its financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised cost or measured
at FVPL on the basis both:

() The Fund’s business model for managing the financial assets
{b) The contractual cash flow charactenistics of the financial assets

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

(2) Its contractual terms do not give rise to cash flows on specified dates that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount cutstanding; or

(b) It is not held within a busmess model whose objective 15 either to collect contractual cash
flows, or to both collect contractual cash flows and sell; or

() At mmalrmugmhnn, it is imevocably dﬂsclgnatedasmmsumdatfﬁnvalue through profit or
loss when doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise anse from measunng assets or liabilities or recognising
the gains and losses on them on different bases.

The Fund includes in this category:
= Securities held for trading This category includes equity securities which are acquired
principally for the purpose of generating profit from shert term fluctuations in price.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost

A debt instroment is measured at amortised cost if it 13 held within a business model whose
objective is to hold fmancial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual
terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount cutstanding. The Fund includes in this category short-term non-financing
receivables meluding amounts due from a prime broker, dividends receivable and margin deposits.

Financial halilities

Financial linbilitier measursd at foir value through profit or loss

A finameial ligbility is measured at fair value through profit or loss if it meets the definition of
held for trading.

The Fund meludes in this category, equity secunities sold short since they are classified as held
for trading. The Fund alse includes its redeemable shares in this category and the Fund's
accounting pelicy regarding the redeemable participating shares is descnibed in redesmable

participating shares note.

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

This category includes all finaneial habilities, other than those classified as at fair value through
profit or loss. The Fund includes in this category amounts relating to amounts due to prime broker,

dividends payable on financial ligbilities at fair valne through profit or loss, redemption payable,
accrued liabilifies and other payables.

12

116/212



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {contimued)

Financial mstroments (continued)

{11} Recognition
The Fund recogmizes a financial asset or a financial liability when 1t becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention i the
marketplace (regular way trades) are recogmised on the trade date that the Fund commits to
purchase or sell the asset.

{i) Initial measurement
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the statement of financial
position at fair value. All transaction costs for such mstruments are recognised directly in the
statement of comprehensive income.

Financial assets and financial liabilities {(other than those classified as at fair value throngh profit
or loss) are measured initially at their fair value plus any directly attnbutable meremental costs of
acquisition or issue.

{iv) Subsequent measurement
After mitial measurement, the Fund measures financial mstruoments which are classified as at
FVPL, at fair value. Subsequent changes in the fair value of those financial instruments are
recogmsed in profit or loss as they anse. Interest eamed on these instmiments are recorded

separately In inferest income.

Debt instruments, other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss, are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the debt instruments are derecogmised or impaired,
as well as through the amorfisation process.

Financial liabilities, other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recogmsed in profit or
loss when the Liabilities are detecogmised, as well as through the amortisation process.

The effective nterest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
a financial liability and of allocating and recognising the interest income or mnferest expense in
profit or loss over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated fioture cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability to the gross camrying ameount of the financial asset or to the amortised cost of the
financial liability. When ealeulating the effective interest rate, the Fund estimates cash flows
considering all contractual terms of the financial mstruments, but does not consider expected
credit losses. The caleulation mcludes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate, tramsaction costs and all other premmms or
discoumnts.

13
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contimued)

Financial mstroments (continued)

(v} Derecogmition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or a part of a group of sinmlar
finanecial assets) 1= derecogmised where the rights to recetve cash flows from the asset have expirad
or the Fund has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
pass-through arrangement and either: (z) the Fund has transferred substantially all the nsks and
rewards of the asset; or (b) the Fund has nerther transferred nor retained substantially all the nsks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Fund has transferred its nght to receive cash flows from an asset (or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement), and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the nisks
and rewards of the asset nor transfemred control of the asset, the asset is recogmised to the extent
of the Fund’ contimimg involvement in the asset In that case the Fund also recogmises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Fund have retained. The Fund derecognises a financial
habality when the obligation under the hability is discharged, cancelled or expired.

Determination of fair value
The Fund measures its investments at fair value at each reporting date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liabality takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a
principal market in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageons market must be accessible to the Fund.

The fair valoe of an asset or a ability 1s measured using the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liabality, assuming that market participants act in their econonme best
interest.

The fair value for financial mstruments traded in active markets at the reporting date 1z based on their
quoted price or binding dealer price gquotations (last trade prices). Securities defined in these accounts
as “listed” are traded in an active market.

Where the Fund has financial assets and financial liabilities with offsetting positions i market risks or
counterparty credit risk, it has elected to use the measurement exception provided in IFRS 13 to
measure the fair value of its net risk exposure by applying last trade price to the net open position as
appropriate.

14
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contimued)

Determination of fair value (contimmed)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categomsed within the fair value merarchy, deseribed as follows, based on the lowest level input that 1s
significant to the far value measuremnent as a whole:

=  Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices m active markets for identical assets or habilities

*  Level 2 — Valation technigues for which the lowest level mput that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or mdirectly observable

= Level 3 —Valation technigques for which the lowest level mput that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recuming basis, the Fund
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the erarchy by re-assessmg the
categonisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

wheole) at the beginning of each reporting peried.

Impairment of financial assets

The Fund holds only trade receivables with no financing component and which have matunities of less
than 12 months at amortised cost and, as such, has chosen to apply an approach similar to the
simplified approach for ECL under IFE.S 9 to all its trade recervables. Therefore, the Fund does not
track changes m credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date.

The Fund® approach to ECLs reflects a probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. The Fund uses
the provision matrix as a practical expedient to measurmg ECLs on trade receivables, based on days
past due for groupings of receivables with similar loss patterns. Peceivables are grouped based on
their nature. The provision matrix 15 based on historical observed loss rates over the expected life of
the receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates.

The Fund assesses at each reporting date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets
classified as loans and receivables is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is deemed
impaired if, and only if, there is an objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events
that hawve oceurred after the initial recopmition of the assets (an incurred “loss event™) and that the loss
event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial
assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impaimment may mclude indications that the debtor,
or a group of debtors, 1s expeniencing significant financial diffieulty, default or delingquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankmptey or other financial reorgamisation
and, where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated fixture cash
flows, such as changes in amears or economic conditions that comrelate with defanlts. If there s
objective evidence that an impammment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss 1s measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated firture cash
flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been meurmed) discounted using the
asset’s ongimal effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the amount of the loss 1s recognised m profit or loss.
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contimued)

Offsetting financial imstroments

Financial assets and financial hiabiliies are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of
financial position if there 15 a corrently enforceable legal right to offset the recogmsed amounts and
there iz an intention to settle on a net basis, or to ealize the asset and settle the hiability simultanecusly.

Functional and presentation currency

The functional cwrrency reflects the comrency in which the Fund primanly generates and expends cash
from its activities. Transactions in foreign currencies other than the finctional currency are recorded
at the rates ruling at the date of transaction.

The functional currency and presentation currency of the Fund are both in Japanese Yen (“JPY™) and
all values are rounded to the nearest Yen, except where otherwise indicated.

Foreign currency translation
Foreign currency transactions are imitially recorded using the fimetional cureney rates ruling at the
date of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreipn cwrrencies are retranslated at the functional
currency rates of exchange muling at the end of reporting peniod. All differences are taken to the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as profit or loss.

MNon-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreipgn currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined.

Foreign cumency transaction gains and losses on financial instruments classified as at fair value
through profit or loss are included in profit or loss i the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as part of the “Net change m unrealised gams/losses on financial assets and
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss™. Exchange differences on other financial instruments are
included in profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive meome as “Iet
exchange differences”.

et gamn or loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value fit or loss

Met gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities at FWPL are changes in the fair value of financial
assets and liabilities held for trading or designated upon imtal recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss and exclude interest and dividend income and expenses.

Unrealised gains and losses comprise changes in the fair value of financial instruments for the peried
and from reversal of the prier period’s unrealised gams and losses for financial instruments which
were realized in the reporting period. Realized gains and losses on disposals of financial instroments
classified as at fair value through profit or loss are calculated using weighted average method. They
represent the difference between an instrument’s initial carrying amount and disposal amount, or cash
payments or receipts made on demvative contracts (excluding payments or receipts on collateral
margin accounts for such instruments).
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contimued)

Dividend mncome and expense

Dividend income is recognised when the Fund's right to receive the payment is established, which is
taken as bemg the date on which equities are quoted as ex-dividend. Dividend income 15 presented
gross of any non-recoverable withholding tax which iz disclosed separately in the statement of
comprehensive income. Dividend expense relating to equity securities sold short is recognised when
the sharehelders” right to receive the payment is established

Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss for all interest-bearng financial
mstruments using the effective mterest method.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash on hand demand
deposits and short-term deposits in banks with original matunties of three months or less.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Amounts due from/to brokers

Amounts due to brokers are payables for secunties purchased (in a regular way transaction) that have
been contracted for but not yet delivered on the reportmg date and cash overdraft with brokers. Refer
to the accounting pohiey for “Other financial hiabilities™, for recogmition and measurement.

Amounts due from brokers include margin accounts and receivables for securities sold (in a regular
way transaction) that have been contracted for but not yet delivered on the reporting date. Refer to
accounting policy for “Financial instruments™ for recognition and measurement.

Margmn accounts represent cash deposits held with brokers as collateral against open fitures contracts.

Eelated parties
A party is considered to be related to the Fund if:
{(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person,
(i}  has comfrol or joint control over the Fund;
(i1) has sigmficant inflnence over the Fund; or
{i11) 1s a member of the key management personnel of the Fund or of a parent of the Fund;
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Related parties (continued)
(1) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:
(i)  the entity and the Fund are members of the same Fund;
(if) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary
or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);
(iif) the entity and the Fund are joint ventures of the same third party;
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;
(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employess of
either the Fund or an entity related to the Fund;
(vi) the entity 1= controlled or jomtly controlled by a person identified in {a);
(vil) a person identified in (a)(1) has significant influence over the entity or 15 a member of
the key management perscnnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and
{wiit) the entity, or any member of a group of which it 1s a part, provides personnel services
to the Fund.

Income tax

The Fund 12 exempt from all forms of taxation in the Cayman Islands melnding meome, capital gains
and withholding taxes. However, in some junsdictions, investment income and capital gains are
subject to withholding tax deducted at the source of the income. The Fund presents the withholding
tax separately from the gross inwestment imcome m the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive meome as “Withholding tax™.

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTION

The preparation of financial statements m conformity with IFES requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Management believes that the estimates utilised in preparing its financial
statements are reasonable and prudent. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongeing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the year in which the estmates are revized and in any fiuture years affected.
Going concem

The Fund’s management has made an assessment of the Fund's ability to continue as a gong concern
and 15 satisfied that the Fund has the resources to continue in busmess for the foreseeable firture.
Furthermore, management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt
upon the Fund’s ability to contimue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements contime
to be prepared on the going concern basis.

18

122/212



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

TE1l J LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTION (contimued)

Fair value of financial mstruments

When the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of fmancial
position cannot be derived from active markets, they are deternmined using a wanety of valuation
technigques that include the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models are taken from
observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgements are required
in establishing fair values. The judgements include considerations of liquidity and model inputs such
as credit risk (both own and counterparty’s), correlation and volatlity. Changes m assumptions about
these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. The models are calibrated
regularly and tested for validity using prices from any observable current market transactions in the
same mstruments (without modification or repackaging) or based on any available observable market
data.

5. FEES

Investment fee and fee
Investment management fee and performance fee are paid at the feeder fund lewvel.

Adnunistration fee

The Administrator, HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited, is entifled to receive a fee, payable monthly in
arrears, caleulated at the following anmmal rates based on the net asset value of the Fund as of each

dealing day.

First JFY'12 billion of the net asset value 0.150%
Next JPY18 billion of the net asset value 0.125%
Any amount by which the net asset value exceeds JPY30 billion 0.100%

The fee payable to the Admimistrator 1s accrued and payable menthly i amears and subject to a
minimum monthly fee of US$E,000. In addition, the Administrator is entitled to receive a fixed fee of
US$5,000 per annum for corporate secretarial services, and certain fransaction fees, az agreed with
the Manager from time to tmme.

The administration fee for the year ended 31 March 2022 was JPY39 282 760 (2021: JPY37,660,913).
As at 31 March 2022, an admimistration fee of JPY3,154.115 (2021: JPY3,867,240) was payable to
the Admimstrator.
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

. TAXATION

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, there are no income, withholding, capital gains,
corporation, inheritance, or estate taxes of any description.

The Fund has received an undertaking from the Government of the Cayman Islands that for a peried
of twenty years from 6 February 2001, no law which is hereafter enacted in the Cayman Islands
imposing any such taxes shall apply to the Fund.

The Fund is not subject to any Japanese tax on income or capital gams, but is subject to Japan

withholding tax on dividends paid by Japanese corporations. As a result, no tax liability has been
recorded in the financial statements.

7. FINANCIAL ASSETS/ALIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THR.OUGH PROFIT OR. LOSS

Financial assets at fair value fit or loss
2022 2021
JBY JPY
Listed equity securties 23981213917 35624013965
23981213917 35624013965
Met changes in fair value on financial assets through profit or loss:
2022 2021
JPY IPY
Fealised 2,690.591.206 1.833.876,334
Unrealised (3,806,905,171)  5.971,105.103
Total (losses)/gams (1,116,313,963) 7.824,981.637
Financial hiabilities at fair valoe through profit or loss
Met changes in fair value on financial liabilities through profit or loss:
2022 2021
JFY JPY
Realised 13,148 553 5.290,630
Unrealised 114,447 42330
Total gains 13,263,000 5.333,000

A detailed portfolio histing is set out on pages 31 to 32.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss represent obligations of the Fund to purchase
the securnties in the market at prevailing prices to the extent that the Fund does not already have the
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

securifies n possession. Accordingly, these transactions result in the nisk that the Fund’s satisfaction
of the obhigation may exceed the amount recognised in the statement of financial position.

8 FATR. VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Aszzets and liabilities for which fair value 15 measured or disclosed in the financial statement are
categonized within the far value erarchy described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
15 sigmificant to the fair value measurement as a whole.

Level 1 QCuoted (unadyusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or habilifies

Level 2 Valuation technigques for which the lowest level mnput that is significant to the fair value
measurement 15 directly or indirectly observable

Level 3 Valuation techniques for which the lowest level mput that 1s sigmficant to the fair value
measurement i3 unobservable

Assessing the significance of a particular input requires judgement, considering factors specific to the
assets or liabilities.

Financial assets at fair value fit or loss
2022 Level 1 Level 2 Leval 3 Total
JPY JPY IPY JPY
Listed equity secunties 23 981213 917 - - 23981213917
Total 23,981,213,917 - - 23,981.213917
20 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
JBY JBY IPY JBY
Listed equity securities 35,624,013 963 - - 33,624.013,965
Total 35.624.013,965 - - 33,624.013,965

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level
2 of fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3.

Financial hahilities at fair vale throun or loss

During the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, there were no financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss.
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TE1l J LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

9 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO A PRIME BROKER

2022 2021
JEY JPY
Amounts due from a prime broker:
Receivables for securities sold but not yet settled - 2,342 660
Amounts due to a prime broker:
Cash overdraft with the brokers - 3,668,160,109
Payables for securities purchased but not yet setfled 17,670,142 2,293,607

17,670,142 3670433716

10. MARGIN DEPOSITS

2022 2021
JEY JPY
Margmn deposits 3,054.500,742 4

Margin deposits due from the prime broker represent cash held by Goldman Sachs Intemational as
collateral agast the Fund’s financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and amounts due
to prime broker, which is restnicted as to use.

11.  CASHAND CASHEQUIVALENTS

2022 2021
JBY JPY
Cash at bank 11,454 787 34,691,870

Cash at bank 13 placed at the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Cerperation Linnted ("HSBC™), an
affiliate of the Administrator, as at the end of the reporting date. The amount 15 placed in a non-interest
bearing account.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

12. SHARE CAPITAL

2022 2021
JPY IPY
Authorised:
100 management shares of JPY100 each 10,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid:
100 management shares of JPY100 each 10,000 10,000

The Fund’s authorised capital comprise of 100 mwmits of management shares and 49 900,000 wnits of
redeemable participating shares. All management shares are held by the Manager. The Fund’s total
management shares are equal to 100 voting and nonredeemable shares at JPY100 per share
Management shares are issued so as to prevent the Fund from dissolution in case all participating
shares have been redeemed.

13. FEDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARES

2022 201
JFY JFY
Anthonised:
49,900,000 redeemable participating shares of JPY0.1 each 4,990,000 4,990,000
Issued and fully paid:
103,087 (2021: 115,285)
redeemable participating shares of JEY0.1 each 10,309 11,529

The holders of redeemable participating shares carry all voting rights and are entifled to dividends m
respect of their redeemable participating shares. The redeemable participating shares also carry an
exclusive rght to receive any surplus assets remaining after the retumn of the nominal ameunt paid up
on the redeemable participating shares and the management shares.

The redeemable participating shares are offered on each dealing day, 1.e. the last business day of each
calendar month. The holders of redeemable participating shares may redeem the redeemable
participating shares on any dealing day by no later than the dealing deadline. 1e. no later than mine
business day prior to the last business day of each calendar month.

The Fund strives to invest the subscriptions of redeemable participating shares in mvestments that
meet the Fund’s investment objectives while maintaining sufficient ligquidity to meet shareholder’s
redemptions request. The Fund may dispose equity securities and other financial assets, when
necessary, to meet lquidity needs. The Fund does not have any externally imposed capital requirement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2022

13.

14.

15.

16.

FEDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARES (continued)

The following summarises the movement in redeemable participating shares during the year ended:

2022 2021

Units Units
At beginning of year 115,285 126,174
Subszeribed during the year 15,012 -
Fedeemed during the year (27,2100 ( 10,889
At end of year 103,087 115285

The caleulation of the net asset value per redeemable participating share is based on the net assets
attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares as at 31 March 2022 of JPY 27,083,247 670
{2021: JPY31,216,805,348) and 103,087 redeemable participating shares (2021: 115,285 shares) m
13sue as at that date.

DISTEIBUTION

No distribution was paid or payable during the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

ASSETS UNDER. FLEDGE

The Fund pledged certain cash balances to Goldman Sachs Internatiomal as collateral for financing
lines and short selling facilities. The value of collateral pledged with Goldman Sachs International as
at 31 March 2022 was JEFY27,018,748,691 (2021: JPY31,957,732.447), representing financial assets
at FVPL and cash held by the pnime broker.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Fund is managed by the Manager. Details of the fees to which the Manager are entitled from the
Fund are provided in Note 5. All such transactions were entered into in the ordmary course of business
and on normal commercial terms. As at 31 March 2022, the Manager held all the 100 (2021: 100)

management shares.

Tower K1 J-Fund redeemed shares amounting to JFY223. 313,700 during the vear which remain
payable as at 31 March 2022 (2021: JFY1,053.330,310).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2022

17. FINANCIAL RISE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS

Risks anising from holding financial mstruments are inherent in the Fund’s activities and are managed
through a process of ongoing measurement and moenitoring. The Fund is exposed to credit risk,
hqudity nsk and market risk.

Financial mstruments of the Fund comprise investments in financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss for the purpose of generating a retum on the investment made by shareholders,
amounts due fromto prime broker. dividends receivable and payable, redemption payable, other
payable and accmals, margin deposits, other receivable and prepayments and cash and cash equivalent.

The Manager is responsible for identifying and controlling the risks that anse from these financial

nstrurments.

The risks are measured using a method that reflects the expected impact on the results and net assets
attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares of the Fund from reascmably possible
changes m the relevant risk vanables such as change in global market environment, interest rate and
currency fluctuations, credit ratings of the Fund’s constituents and liquidity risk and price nisk of the
Investing equity securities.

Information about these risk exposures at the reporting date, measured on this basis, is disclosed below.
Information about the total fair value of financial instruments exposed to sk, as well as its compliance
with established inwvestment mandate, which are presented by the Investment and Bomowing
Bestrictions listed in Explanatory Memorandum is also monitored by the Manager. These mandate
limuits reflect the mvestment strategy and market environment of the Fund, as well as the level of nisk
that the Fund is willing to accept, with additional emphasis on selected industries.

Concentration of risk anses when a number of finaneial mstruments or contracts are entered into with
the same counterparty, or a munber of counterparties engaging in similar business activities, or
conducting activities m the same geographic region, or share simlar economic features that would
cause their abilities to meet contractual obligations to be sinularly affected by changes to economic
or political conditions.

This mformation is prepared and reported to relevant parties on a monthby basis as deemed appropriate,
mnchiding the Manager and Investment A dvisor.

(a)  Market Risk

Market nsk 1s the nsk that the fair value or finure cash flows of financial instruments will
fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices whether those changes are cansed by factors
specific to the individual assets or factors affecting all assets in the market such as interest
rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. Market risk is managed and monitored using
sensitivity analysis in equity price, and muninmsed through ensunng that all investment
activities are undertaken in accordamce with established mandate limits and investment
strategies.
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17.

FINANCIAL RISE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (confinued)

Market Fazk (confiomed)

(a)

(1

(i)

(i)

Interest rate sk

Interest rate nisk is the msk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial
mstruments will fluctuate due to changes m market interest rates.

Asg at the end of the reporting date, the Fund's exposure to imterest rate nisk is
considered to be mmimal as most of the Fund’s assets consist of equity securities and
non-interest bearing assets such as amounts due from a prime broker, dividends
receivable, margin deposits, other receivable and prepayments and cash balance
placed at the bank.

Currency nisk

Currency risk is the nisk that the value of financial assets or ligbilities will fluctuate
due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Fund's exposure to cumrency nisk is
muumal as the Fund’s financial assets and liabalibies, which are denommnated m
currencies other than Japanese Yen, are immatenial.

Equity price risk
Equity price rigk is the risk that the fair value of equities decreases as a result of
changes in market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the

individual stock or factors affecting all instruments in the market. Equity price risk
exposure anses from the Fund's mvestments.

Equity price risk is managed by the Manager by construicting a diversified portfolio
of mstruments. The following table details the breakdown of the investment assets
held by the Fund as at the end of the reporting date:

2022 201
% of net assets %o of net assets
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Equity mvestment - listed securities 8B.55 114.12

The Manager's best estimate of the effect on the net assets for a year due to a
reasonably possible change in Nikkes 225 Index. with all other variable held constant
is indicated in the table below. In practice, the actual trading results may differ from
the sensitivity analysis below and the difference could be material An equivalent
mcrease or decrease i Nikkei 225 Index shown below would have resulted in an

Changes m Nikkei 225 Changes in

Index NAV

From 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 -4.65% -2.98%
From 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 -54.24% -35.23%
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2022

17. FINANCIAL RISE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (contmmed)

(a)

Market Risk (contimaed)

(i)

Equity price risk (continued)

Concentration of market risk exposiure

As of 31 March 2022 and 2021, all of the equity securities are listed in Japan. The
concentration of market nsk by geographical location 15 managed by the
diversification of mvestment in varous indusiry sectors.

An mdustry sector analysis of the Fund’s financial assets at fair value through profit

or loss is as follows:

2022 2

JBEY JFY
Advanced Materials and Products 146,107 300 111,034,000
Building - Heavy Construction 224,379,300 126,544,000
Bulding Products - Wood 3,426,000 3,252,000
Ceramic productz 159,022 840 192,904,579
Chemicals 137,039 992 2,033,103,997
Computer equipment, service and software 4.047.166.399 6,024,647 008
Distribution and wholesale 14,327,500 33,139,200
Diversified Banking 6,607.741.500 3,977.986,130
Electnc & electromics products 1,885,961 381 2.513,230,512
Electronic Measunng Instruments 57,364,800 40,786,200
Electromic Parts Distributors 17,574,000 22872300
Engineering 208,078,000 334,400,000
E-services & consulting - 382,989,603
Finance & investment bank - 3,395,206,307
Food 308,690,400 418 840,000
Footwear (Non-Athletic) & related apparel 418,063,000 448,901,000
Golf 176,354 402 399,132,200
Import/Export - 1,060,847.900
Leisure and recreational products T7.414 400 93,063,600
Machi 2.371,779.501 2.426,054,009
Metal Products — Distributors - 242,207,600
Eeal estate development and management 1,086.806,600 1,073,943 650
REITS 4,050,774.902 6,333,771,809
Telecom and telephone 1,066.533,4094 1,033,630,801
Textile product 646,344 000 235,434,000
Total 23,981,213.917 33,624,013,965

The Fund contiomously menitors the financial performance of the counterparties and

does not expect any material losses as a result of this concentration.
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17. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (confinued)

()  Liquidity Risk

Ligmdity risk is the misk that the Fumd will encounter difficulty i raising fimds to meet
commitments associated with financial liabilities. Liguidity risk may result from an inability
to settle a financial Liability quickly at an amount close to its fair value.

The Fund’s exposure to Liquidity risk 13 relatively low as shareholders are allowed to redeem
investments on a monthly basis. Further, to prevent a short-term liguidity problem which may
be cansed by hmge redemptions in a single dealing day to the Fund, the Manager is entitled at
its discretion to linut the aggregate of the mumber of shares redeemed to 10% of the total
mumber of redesmable participating shares in issue. The Manager may also suspend the right
of shareholders to require redemption of their shares and/or may delay the payment of the
redemption price during any period when the determination of the net asset value of the Fund
13 suspended

In addition, the Fund maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet normal operating
Tequirements.

Maturity analysis of financial asset and financial liabilities

Financial assets of the Fund comprise financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
amounts due from a prime broker, dividends receivable, cash and cash eguivalents, other
recervable and prepayments and margin deposits. There is no contractual matunty on the
financial assets except for dividend receivables which are typically settled within 30 days and
00 days. Financial hiabihiies of the Fund comprise amounts due to poime broker, dividends
payable on financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, redemption payable and
other payable and accruals and net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating
shares. Except for net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares as
disclosed m Note 13 and dividends payable on financial habilities at fair value through profit
or loss which are typically settled within 30 days and 90 days, the other financial liabilities
have no contractual maturity.
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2022

17. FINANCIAL RISE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (contmued)
(c) Credit Risk

Credit nsk relates to the extent to which the Fund could be impacted by falures by
counterparties to discharge their obligations or commitment they have entered into with the
Fund. It could reduce the amount of future cash flows from financial assets on hand as at the
end of reporting date.

The carrying amount of financial assets best represents the maximum credit risk exposure at
the end of the reporting date. This relates also to financial assets carmed at amortised cost, as
they have a short-term to maturity. This does not represent the maximum risk exposure that
could arise in the firture as a result of changes in valnes, but represents the current maximum
exposure at the reporting date. For the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, since
all of the financial assets are publicly listed in recogmised market in Japan, the credit sk
exposure 1s considered to be relatively low.

As of the end of the reporting date, the Fund’s financial assets exposed to credit nisk amounted
to JPY27,331,016,614 (2021: JPY35,948 518, 562), which represented the carrying amounts
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, amounts due from a prime broker,
dividend receivables, margin deposits and cash and cash equivalents as presented m the
statement of financial position. As of 31 March 2022 and 2021, all of the Fund’s investment
positions are held by the prime broker.

The Fund helds no collateral as security or any other credit enhancements (2021: Nil). There
are ne financial assets that are past due or impaired, or would otherwise be past due or

impaired except for the terms having been renegotiated (2021: Nil).

Conceniration of credit risk exposure
Substantially all of the cash and secunties are held by HSBC located in Hong Kong and
Goldman Sachs International in Londen, the Fund’s prime broker. Bankruptey or inselvency
by them may cause the Fund’s rights with respect to the cash held by them to be delayed or
limited The Fund monitors its nsk by monitoring the credit quality and financial positions of
them If the credit quality or the financial position of them deteriorates significantly, the
will move the cash holdings to another bank and financial mstitution as soon as
practical. The related credit ratings from Standard & Poor’s (“"5&P”) for HSBC is “A-" (2021:
“A-7) while “A+” for Goldman Sachs Intemational (2021: “A+7).

29

133/212



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

TE1l J LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2022

17.

18.

19.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (continmed)
{c) Credit Risk (continued)

Financial assets subject to IFRS 9's impairment raquirements

The Fund’s financial assets subject to the ECL model within IFRS 9 are dividends receivable,
amounts due from a prime broker, margin deposits and cash and cash equivalents. At 31
March 2022, the total amount of these financial assets is JPY3,349,802,607
(2021: JPY324.504,507), on which no less allowance had been provided No assets are
considered impaired and no amounts have been wrtten off during the year.

Financial assets not subject to IFRS 9's impairment requirements

The Fund 15 exposed to credit risk on equity instruments. They are not subject to IFRS 9°3
impairment requitements as they are measured at fair value through profit or loss. The
carrying walue of these assets, under IFES 9 represents the Fund’s maximum exposure to
credit risk on financial instruments not subject to the IFR.S 9 impaimment requirements on the
respective reporting dates. Hence, no separate maxinum exposure to credit risk disclosure iz
provided for these mstruments.

EVENTS AFTER. THE REPORTING DATE

Subsequent to the reporting date and up to the date of the financial statements, 280 redeemable

parﬂclpaungshareswm redeemed for total redemption payments of JPY 75,183 688 There were no
other material events to be disclosed after the reporting date.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The fmancial statements were approved and authorised for 1ssue by the Directors on 15 July 2022,
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(2022 )

29,338,386,759

26,533,328

29,311,853,431

118,554

247,245

136/212



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

137/212



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022

1,000,000 135
1,000,000
( 134.61 2022 29 UFJ

138/212



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad
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1

2022
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38 59 131

23 103

2022 29 UFJ
134.61
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2022 3 31
2022 2021

857,466 115,423 2,131,508 286,922
63,810 8,589 25,560 3,441
17,363,369 2,337,283 14,243,697 1,917,344
18,284,645 2,461,296 16,400,765 2,207,707
797,595 107,364 1,567,169 210,957
17,487,050 2,353,932 14,833,596 1,996,750
17,487,050 2,353,932 14,833,596 1,996,750
1,000,000 134,610 1,000,000 134,610
16,487,050 2,219,322 13,833,596 1,862,140
17,487,050 2,353,932 14,833,596 1,996,750
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2022 3 31

2022 2021
29,011,901 3,905,292 11,464,796 1,543,276
161 22 138 19
(57,833) (7.,785) (19,184) (2,582)
(26,300,775) (3,540, 347) (10,035,544) (1,350,885)
2,653,454 357,181 1,410,206 189,828
2,653,454 357,181 1,410,206 189,828
2,653,454 357,181 1,410,206 189,828
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2022 3 31
2020 4 1 1,000,000 134,610 12,423,390 1,672,313 13,423,390 1,806,923
1,410,206 189,828 1,410,206 189,828
2021 3 31 1,000,000 134,610 13,833,596 1,862,140 14,833,596 1,996,750
2,653,454 357,181 2,653,454 357,181
2022 3 31 1,000,000 134,610 16,487,050 2,219,322 17,487,050 2,353,932
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2022 3 31
2022 2021

2,653,454 357,181 1,410,206 189,828
(161) 2) (138) (19)
2,653,293 357,160 1,410,068 189,809
1,274,042 171,499 (1,387,911) (186,827)
(38,250) (5,149) (360) (48)
(769,574) (103,592) 889,110 119,683
3,119,511 419,917 910,907 122,617
161 22 138 19

161 22 138 19
3,119,672 419,939 911,045 122,636
14,243,697 1,917,344 13,332,652 1,794,708
17,363,369 2,337,283 14,243,697 1,917,344
17,363,369 2,337,283 14,243,697 1,917,344
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31

KY1-1104

2020

HKFRSs HKFRs
HKFRSs HKASs
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HKFRSs
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2.5

2.6

HKFRS 15

146/212

EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad



2.7

2.8

2.9

@

(b)

) @

() @

1471212

EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

FVTPL



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

FVTPL
FVTOCI FVTPL
FVTPL FVTPL
FVTPL
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FVTPL FVTOCI
FVTPL FVTOCI
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2.12.

2.13.

2022 2021
11,024,026 10,421,740
17,987,875 1,043,056
29,011,901 11,464,796
161 138
29,012,062 11,464,934
2022 2021
57,833 19,184
2011 2008 15 20
2021
2021
30 90

11(b)
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2022 2021
772,835 1,550,634
24,760 16,535
797,595 1,567,169
2022 2021
2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000

2022 2021
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a 11,024,025 10,421,740

b 17,987,875 1,043,056

c 1,102,108 1,041,130

d 2,204,216 2,082,259

e 6,612,649 6,246,778

f 16,222,100 570,283
a
b
C
d
e
Li

11.
@
2021
2022 31 10 2021
( ) 30,000 2021 1,000

10 2021
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50
87,000 (2021 71,000 )
50
2021
100
797,595 797,595 797,595
1,567,169 1,567,169 1,567,169
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 March 2022
2022 021
MNote Uss Uss
Current assets
Accounts receivable [ £57.466 2,131,508
Prepayments 63,810 25,560
Cash and bank balances 17,363,369 14,243,697
18,284,645 16,400,765
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals 7 797,595 1,567,169
Met current assets 17,487,050 14,833,506
Met assets 17,487,050 14,833,596
Capital and reserves
Share capital 8 1,000,000 1,000,000
Reserves 16,487,050 13,833,596
17,487,050 14,833,596
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprebensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2022

2022 2021

MNote Us§ Uss

Revenue 3 29,011,901 11,464,796
Other operating income 3 161 138
Other net loss 4 (57,833) (19,184)
Other operating expenses (26,300,775) (10,035,544)
Profit before tax 2.653,454 1,410,206
Taxation 5 = e
Profit for the year 2,653,454 1,410,206
Other comprehensive income for the year = 5
Total comprehensive income for the year 2653,454 1,410,206
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2022

Share capital Reserves Total

USS Uss US§

Total equity as at 1 April 2020 1,000,000 12,423,390 13,423,390
Total comprehensive income for the year - 1,410,206 1,410,206
Total equity as at 31 March 2021 1,000,000 13,833,596 14,833,596
Total comprehensive income for the year - 2,653,454 2,653,454
Total equity as at 31 March 2022 1,000,000 16,487,050 17,487,050

-f -
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Statement of Cash Flows
For the vear ended 31 March 2022

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax
Adjustment for:

Interest income

Decrease/{increase) in accounts receivable

Increase in prepayments
{Dcereasc)inoreas: in accounts payable and accruals

Net cash from operating activities

Cash Nows from mvesting activities
Interest received

Met cash from investing activities

Net imerease in cash and cash equivalents
Casgh and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and bank halances
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2022 2021

US$ Uss
2,653,454 1,410,206
(161} (138}
2,653,203 1,410,068
1,274,042 (1,387,911}
(38,250) (360}
i769.574) $89,110
3,119,511 910,907
161 138

161 138
3,119,672 911,045
14,243,697 13,332,652
17,363,369 14,243,697
17,363,360 14,243,697
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Motes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 March 2022

1.  General information
Tower Asset Management Limited is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability.
Its registered office is located at PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

The principzl activity of the Company is the provision of fund management services. The Company is
registered as a Registered Person under the Securities Investment Business Act (2020 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands.

The ultimate holding Company is Tower Investment Management Co., Limited, a company incorporated in
Japan with limited liability.

I Significant accounting policies

2,1. Statement of compliance
These financial statements hawve been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the "HKICPA"), and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. A summary of
the significant accounting policies adopted by the Company is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first eective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the Company. Information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Company for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements is provided in
note 2.3,

2.2, Basis of preparation of financial statements
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilties, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates,

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the
financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 12,
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Motes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 March 2022

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.3, The impact of new/revised HKFRSs
In the current year, the Company has applied, for the first time, the following new and revised standards,
amendments and interpretation (collectively referred to as the "new and revised HKFRSs") issued by
HEICPA, which are effective for the Company's financial year beginning from 1 April 2021. A summary
of the new and revised HKFRSs applied by the Company is set out as follows:

Amendiments to HEFRS 9, HEAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2
HEFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendment to HEKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions

The amendments to HKFRSs and HKAS in this year do not have material impact on the Company's
financial performance and position for the current and prior years and on the disclosures set out in the
financial staterments.

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments,
new standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2022 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements.

The Company is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments, new
standards and new interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial application. However, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the financial effect until the directors of the Company
completed a detailed review.

24. Income tax
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxasle profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as
reported in profit or loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deduetible. The Company's liability for current tax is caleulated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of reporting period.

Dreferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Dreferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Motes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

24, Income tax {cont'd)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of reporting period. The measurement of defierred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that wounld follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at
the end of reporting period, to recover or seitle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Dweferred
tax is recognised in profit or loss, ewcept when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

1.5. Foreign currencies translations
(a)  Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates {the functional currency). This financial statements are
preserted in United States dollars ("US$"), which is the Companys functional and presentation
currency.

(k)  Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transsctions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

2.6, Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised by reference to each distinet performance obligation
in the contract with the customer. Revenue from contracts with customers is measured at the transaction
price, being the amount of eonsideration which the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for
transferring the promised goods or services to the customer, net of taxes. The transaction price is allocated
to each performance obligation of each distinct good or service promised in the contract. The basis of
allocation is that allowed by HKFRS 15. Depending on the substance of the contract, revenue is
recopnised when the performance obligation is satisfied, which may be at a point in time or over time,

Fund manager fee income is charged at a fived percentage per month of the net asset value of the managed
accounts under management of the Company. The Company is also entitled to a performance fee when
there is a positive performance for the relevant performance period and it & recognised at the end of the
relevant performance period, when it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

Income from financial services is recognised over time as services rendered.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis on the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable,

=10 -
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Tower Asset Management Limited

MNotes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

zl

z !‘7!

18,

Significant accounting policies (cont"d)

Cash and cash equivalenis

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short term, highly liquid investment that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insipnificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafis that are repayable on demand and form an integral

part of the Company's cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the statement of cash flows.

Related parties
{a) A person, or a close member of that person's family, is related to the Company if that person:

(i}  has control or joint control over the Company;

(i) has significant influence over the Company; or

{iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or the Company's parent.
(b} An entity is related to the Company ifany of the following conditions applies:

{i)  The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or jomnt venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture
of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

{iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

(v} The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the
Company or an entity related to the Company.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointhy controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealing with the entity.

-11-
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

2. Significant accounting policies (cont"d)

2.9, Fimancial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial
liability or equity instrument of another entity. A financial asset or a financial liability will be recognised
when, and only when, the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. At
initial recognition, financial instruments are accounted for at trade date basis and measured at fair value
plus or mines, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at financial assets at fair valoe
through profit or loss ("FVTPL"), transaction costs thereon. After initial recognition, financial assets and
financial liabilities are measured at fair value or at amortised cost based on their respective business
maodels, contractual cash flows characteristics and classifications.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets other than those measured &t amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
income ("FVTOCI") are classified as financial assets at FVTPL. Financial assets that are classified as held
for trading or are designated at FVTPL at initial recognition for the purposes of avelding accounting
mismatch arz classified as FVTPL too. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are
designated as hedges. After initial recognition, financial assets at FVTPL ate measured at fair value prior
to the deduction of transaction coste. Gaine or loszes arizing from changes in fair valve or otherwize are
recognised in profit or loss. Such gains or losses are presented separately from interest and dividends.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Mon-derivative debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for
collection of contractual cash flows and have specified settlement dates with fixed or determinable
payments of principal and interest thereon are classified as financial assets at amortised cost. After initial
recognition, financial assets at amortised cost are measured at amortised cost using effective interest
method, less credit loss allowances. Interest income together with gains or losses resulting from
derccognition are recognised in profit or loss.

At each reporting date, expected credit losses are recognised for individual or collective financial assets at
amortised cost in profit or loss. The amounts of expected credit losses are measured at the present value of
the difference between the contractual cash flows and the expected future cash flows.

Finaneial liabilities at amortized cosf

Mon-derivative financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost. Afier initial recognition, financial liabilities
at amortised cost are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. All financial
liabilities at amortised cost are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has a pre-defined
repayment s:hedule or an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting period. Interest expenses are recognised in profit or loss. When the borrowing
agresment containg clause that gives the lender unconditional right to demand repayment at any time
disregarding the pre-defined repayment schedule, the financial liabilities at amortised cost is presented as a
current liability in the statement of financial position irrespective of the probability that the lender will
invoke the clause without cause.
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year emded 31 March 2022

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.9, Financial instruments (cont'd)

Reclassification of financial assets

Financial assets, but not financial liabilities, are re-classifiable when the business model applicable to a
financial asset or a class of financial assets has changed. For the financial assets reclassified out of
amortised cost measurement category, their carrying amount are restated at their respective fair value at the
reclassification date; any differences are recognised in profit or loss (for those reclassified into FWVTPL
measurement category) or other comprehensive income (for those reclassified into financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income ("FVTOCI") measurement category). For the financial assets
reclassified out of FYTPL measurement category into FYTOCI measurement category or vice versa, they
are continued to be measured at fair value, cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income, if any, is reclassified to profit or loss as reclassification adjustment. For the
financial assets reclassified out of FVTPL measurement category into amortised cost measurement
category, their fair value at the reclassification date becomes their new gross carrying amount. For
financial assets reclassified from FVTOCI measurement category into amortised cost measurement
category, their carrying amount will be adjusted as if they had always been measured at amortised cost; the
adjusted amount will be recognised in cumulative gain or loss of the financial assets previously recognised
in other comprehensive income, After reclassification, the reclassified financial assets will be measured in
accordance with the accounting policies of the new categories.

Derecagnition of fincmcial assets

When the contractual rights to the cash flows from financial assets expire or substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of financial assets are transferred, the financial assets will be derecognised. The
rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer are recognised separately as assets or liabilities.
However, if substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of transferred financial assets are retained,
the financial assets will not be derecognised. In this situation, the transferred financial assets will be
recognised in their entirety and the considerations received, if any, will be recognised as financial
liabilities. In subsequent periods, income on the transferred financial assets and expensze incurred on the
recognised financial liabilities will be recognised in profit or loss separately. In the case substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of transferred financial assets are neither transferred nor retained, the
transferred financial assets will be recognised to the extent of the Company's continuous involvement if the
Company retains control over the financial assets; otherwise, the financial assets will be derecognised and
the rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer are recognised separately as assets or
liabilities. The difference of the carryving amount of the transferred assets which are qualified for
derecognition and the sum of consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new
liability assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of finemcial labilities

When the obligation of financial liabilities specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires,
the financial liabilities are reparded as extinguished and are removed from the statement of financial
position. An exchange of liabilities or substantial modification of the terms of existing financial liabilities
are also accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liabilitics. Gain or loss on
derecognition of financial liabilities is recognised in profit or loss.

13-
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Motes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

2,  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.10, Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingeni liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the ocourrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Company. It can alse be a present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of
obligation cannot be measured reliably. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that
outflow is probable, they will then be recognized as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Company. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

2.11. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision, including those arising from the contractual obligation specified in
the service concession arrangement to maintain or restore the infrastructure before it is handed over to the
grantor, is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncerfainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its camrying amount is
the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from
a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be
received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

2.12. Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are measured at initial recognition at transaction price and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less lifetime expected credit losses.

2,13, Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are measured at initial recognition at the fair value {including transaction costs)
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

- 14-
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Motes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

3 Revenue and other income

The principal activity of the Company is the provision of fund management services. Revenue and other
income recognised during the year are as follows:

2022 2021
Uss Uss
Revenue
Fund manager fee income 11,024,026 10,421,740
Performance fee income 17987875 1,043,056
29,011,901 11,464,796
Oiher operating income
Bank interest income 161 138
29,012,062 11,464,934
4. Oither net loss
2022 2021
Uss Uss
Met exchangs loss 57,833 19,184

5. Taxation

The Company has applied for and has received an undertaking from the Governor-in-Council of the
Cayman Islands that, in accordance with section 6 of the Tax Concessions Law (2011 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands, for a period of 20 years from 15 July 2008, no law which is enacted in the Cayman
Islands impeasing any tax to be levied on profits, income, gains or appreciations or any tax in the nature of
estate duty or inheritance tax shall apply to the Company or its operations.

Mo provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as, in the opinion of the directors, the Company
did not generate any assessable profits in Hong Kong during the year (2021: Nil).

There was no unprovided deferred tax in respect of the year and as at the end of reporting period (2021:
Nil).

-15-
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Motes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

6. Accounts receivable

The Compary allows a credit period of 30 to 90 days in respect of the accounts receivable arising from the
business of provision of fund management services.

The Compary's credit policy is set out in note 11{b).

7.  Accounts payable and accruals

2022 2021

USss Uss

Accounts payable 772,835 1,550,634
Accruals 24,760 16,535

797,595 1,567,169

8. Share capital

2022 2021
Uss Uss
Authorised
2,000,000 ordinary shares of US$1 each 2,000,000 2,000,000
Tssued and fully paid
1,000,000 ordinary shares of US$] each 1,000,000 1,000,000

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to ene vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to
the Company's residual assets,

9.  Capital management
Capital comprises of share capital and reserves stated on the statement of financial position, The

Company's objective in managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, 50 that
it can continue to provide retumns for sharcholders.

The Company manages capital by regularly monitoring its current and expected liquidity requirement
rather than using debt/equity ratio analyses.

The Company's strategy is to maintain a solid capital base to support the operations and development of its
business in the long term.

The Compeny was registered as an Excluded Person by Cayman Islands Monetary Authority and subjected
to externally requirement specified by the Japan Securities Dealers Association to maintain its minimum
net asset value of 50 million Japanese Yen.

=16 -
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Tower Asset Management Limited

MNotes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

10. Related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
Company entered into the following material related party transactions:

2022 2021

Uss Uss

Management fee from related funds (note (a}) 11,024,025 10,421,740
Performancs fee from related funds (note (b)) 17,987,875 1,043,056
Agency fee 1o the holding company (note (c}) 1,102,108 1,041,130
Administrative service fee to the holding company (note (d)) 2,204,216 2,082,259
Investment advisory fee to the holding company (note (e)) 6,612,649 6,246,778
Performance fee to the holding company (nate (1)) 16,222,100 570,283

MNotes:
(1) The management fee was calculated hased on agreed percentage of the net asset value of the funds
in accordance with the explanatory memorandums of the funds.

(b) The performance fee was calculated in accordance with formula defined in the explanatory
memorandum of the funds.

{c) The Company entered into an agency agreement with the holding company. Aceording to the
agreement, the Company appointed the holding company to provide administrative services relating
to the fund managed by the Company. The fee was calculated based on agreed percentage of the
management fee recelved by the Compaty,

(@ Adminisirative service fees were in relation to administrative services provided by the holding
company, The fees were calculated based on agreed percentage of the net asset value of the
investment funds or based on agreed percentage of the management fee received by the Company.

(e) The Company entered into an investment advisory agreement with the holding company. Pursuant to
the agreement, the Company appointed the holding company to provide investment advisory
services to funds managed by the Company. The Company paid investment advisory fees to the
holding company which were calculated based on agreed percentage of the management fees
received by the Company.

(fi The Company entered into an investment advisory agreement with the holding company. The
Company paid the performance fee to the holding company which calculated in accordance with
formula defined in the agreement.

-17-
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Motes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

11.

Financial risk management

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency
risk, cash flows and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk. These risks are mitigated by
the Company's financial management policies and practices described below:

{a) Market risk
(i) Foreign currency risk
The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk through certain income and expenses that
are settled in Hong Kong dollars ("HKD") and Japanese Yen ("JPY™) (2021: HKD and JPY).
As HKD is pegged to USD, the Company does not expect any significant movements in the
HEDVUSD exchange rate, The Company is mainly exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from future transactions that are denominated in JPY. The management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise,

At 31 March 2022, if JPY has strengthened/weakened by 10% (2021: 2%) against USD with
all other variables held constant, profit for the year and equity would have been approximately
US$30,000 (2021: approximataly US$1,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gainf(loss) on translation of foreign currencies denominated bank balances. The
10% (2021: 2%) represents management’s assessment of the likely maximum change in JPY
exchange rate over the period until the end of the next reporting period.

(iiy Cash flows and fair value interest rate risk
The Company is exposed to incerest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest
bearing assets. The Company’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rates available
fior its deposits.

As at 31 March 2022, the profit after tax of the Company would have been
decreased/increased by approximately US$87,000 (2021: approximately US$71,000) if the
market interest rate had been increased/decreased by 50 basis points with all other variables
held constant. The 50 basis points increase/decrease represents management's assessment of
the likely maximum change in interest rates over the period until the end of the next reporting
period. The analysis does not take into account exposure to fair value interest rate risk arising
from fixed rate instruments as the Company does not hold any fixed rate instruments which
are measured at fair value in the financial statements. The analysis is performed on the same
basis for 2021.

=18 =
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

11. Financial risk management (cont'd)

() Credit risk
The Company's principal financial assets are bank balances, and accounts receivable.

All accounts receivable are neither past due nor impaired as of the end of reporting period. In
addition, management has a credit policy in place and the exposures 1o credit risk are monitored on
an ongoing basis,

The credit risk on bank deposits placed in a bank is limited becanse the bank is an authorised
financial institution with high credit rating,

The Company's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. At the end of reporting period, the Company has a concentration of eredit risk as 100%
(2021: 100%) of total accounts receivable were due from the funds managed by the Company.

Other than concentration of credit risks on amounts due from funds managed by the Company and
liquid funds which are deposited with a bank with high credit rating, the Company does not have
auny viher significant concentration of credit risk.

(c)  Liguidity risk
The Company regularly monitors current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintsins adequate cash to meet its financial obligations and to fund its operating expenses on an
on-going basis. The liquidity of the Company is primarily dependent on its ability to maintain
adequate cash inflow from operations to meet its debt obligations.

The maturity profile of the Company's financial liabilities as at the end of reporting period, based on
the contracted undiscounted payment, was as follows:

Total
contractual Morethan 1  More than 2
Carrying undiscounted Within 1 vear vear but less  years but less
amount cash flow orondemand  than 2 years  than 5 years

1SS USs% USss Uss Uss
2022
Accounts payable
and accruals 797,595 797,595 797,595 - =
2021
Accounts payable
and aceruals 1,567,169 1,567,169 1,567,169 - o

-19-
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Tower Asset Management Limited

MNotes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

11.  Financial risk management {cont'd)

(d)  Fair value of financial instruments
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recognised in the financial statements approximate to their fair values.

12, Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Company makes estimates and assumptions conceming the future. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of zssets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below.

Impairment sllowances of financial assets
The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumption about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Company use judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Company's past history, existing market conditions as well as forward-looking
estimates at the end of each reporting period.

13.  Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 July 2022,
The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Shinya Fujiwara

Omar Wright

Colin Mestor {Appointed on 7 September 2021)
Tomiyo Miki (Resigned on 31 August 2021)
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Independent Auditor's Report

The Trustee
Tower K1 J-Fund

Report on the Audit of the Financia Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Tower K1 J-Fund (the “Fund”) which comprise the statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notesto
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in al material respects, the financial
position of the Fund as at 31 March 2022 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (1FRSS).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilitiesin accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Other information consists of the information included in the Fund’ s management and administration
listing. Management is responsible for the other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility isto read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and the Trustee for the Financia Statements
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Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statementsin
accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for ng the Fund's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations,
or has no realistic aternative but to do so.

The Trustee is responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Respondbilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our report is made solely to you, as abody, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the financial statements as awhole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance isa high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will aways detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with | SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide abasis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’
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sreport to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to
continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in amanner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Trustee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

Ernst & Young Ltd.

Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands
15 July 2022

)
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I ndependent Auditor's Report to the Members of
Tower Asset Management Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Tower Asset Management Limited ("the Company") set out
on pages 4 to 20 which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financia statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give atrue and fair view of the financial position of the Company
asat 31 March 2022, and of itsfinancial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA").

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethicsfor Professional Accountants ("the Code"), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of directors and those charged with governance for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give atrue and fair view in
accordance with the HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic aternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

It isour responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financia statements
and to report our opinion solely to you, as abody, for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Our objectives are to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
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Reasonable assurance isa high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HK SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of interna control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonabl eness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the financia statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to ceaseto
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in amanner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficienciesin interna

control that we identify during our audit.

FTW & Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 27 July 2022
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